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PREFACE

‘7"]‘"1-1 OUSAN DS and thousands of books have been written about
Shakespeare, and most of them are mad’, wrote Logan Pearsall
Smith. But whatever the faults of the present work I do not
think that it can fairly be charged with a lack of sanity. I have no
particular axe to grind, unless a defence of the few articles in a simple
and orthodox creed can be interpreted as such. I believe that Shake-
speare was the author of the works attributed to him by his friends
Heminge and Condell, and that with the exception of relatively few
passages and scenes he wrote everything in the thirty-six plays of the
First Folio; and I believe that Shakespeare is the greatest poet and
dramatist who has ever written, certainly in English, probably in any
language.

A creed, however, will not justify a book, least of all will it justify
another book on Shakespeare. The justification of this work lies not
so much in the originality of the matter itself—though even here,
perhaps, some originality may be allowed—as in its arrangement, in
the assembly of material that, so far as I know, has never before been
brought together in one volume. There are books devoted to Shake-
spearean scholarship and to zsthetic appreciation, there are numerous

nthologies of Shakespeare’s poetry, and some of Shakespearean
criticism, but none that draws all these elements together within a
comparatively small compass. Nor, I think, is there any other book
that illuminates as it were in the round each play and poem by the
criticism that falls on it from the various angles of three centuries.
For, in the words of Mr T. S. Eliot, ‘when a poet is a great poet as
Shakespeare is, we cannot judge of his greatness unaided; we need both
t. - opinions of other poets, and the diverse views of critics who were
not poets, in order to help us to understand’.

F. E. H.
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CHAPTER 1
THE LIFE OF SHAKESPEARE

HERE are three main sources on which we can draw for our
knowledge of Shakespeare’s life: contemporary allusions, tradi-

tion, and records of various kinds. Of these, the contemporary
allusions are mainly, like those of Greene, Meres, and Jonson, of a
literary nature; tradition is the basis of the early attempts at biography,
a serious effort to unearth and study records at Stratford and London
not being made until the late eighteenth century.

It is of course impossible to say how far these traditions are to be
trusted; no doubt some of them are essentially true, others sound
suspiciously fanciful, most of them are picturesque, and as they are
largely responsible for the popular conception of Shakespeare it will
be as well to consider their origin and note their accumulation before
going on to the more prosaic biographical records.

The first man to make a sketch of Shakespeare’s life was Thomas
Fuller (1608-61), who spent his last fifteen or twenty years collecting
material for his W orthies of England, published in 1662:

William Shakespeare was born at §tratford on Avon in this County,
in whom three eminent Poets may seem in some sort to be com-
pounded. . . .!

Many were the wit-combates betwixt him and Bem Foinsom, which
two I behold like a Spanish great Gallion and an English man of War;
Master Foinson (like the former) was built far higher in Learning;
Solid, but §/ow in his performances. Skhake-spear, with the Englisk-man
of War, lesser in bulk, but lighter in sai/ing, could turn with all tides,
tack about and take advantage of all winds, by the quickness of his Wit
and Invention. He died A##0 Domini 16 . ., and was buried at Strasford
upon Avon, the Town of his Nativity.

Shortly before Fuller’s death Thomas Plume, Archdeacon of
Rochester, made the note:

He was a glovers son—Sir John Mennis saw once his old Father
in his shop—a merry Cheekd old man—that said—Will was a good
Honest Fellow, but he durst have crackt a jeast with him at any time.

John Ward was the vicar of Stratford from 1662 to 1681, and in
that part of his Diary written between 1661 and 1663 he noted:

1 See p. 277.
15
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SHAKESPEARE AND HIS CRITICS

Shakespear had but 2 daughters, one whereof M. Hall, ye physitian,
married, and by her had one daughter, to wit, ye Lady Bernard of
Abbingdon. . .

I have heard yt Mr. Shakespeare was a natural wit, without any art
at all; hee frequented ye plays all his younger time, but in his elder days
lived at Stratford: and supplied ye stage with 2 plays every year, and for
yt had an allowance so large, yt hee spent att ye Rate of a 1,000l a year,
as I have heard. . ..

Shakespear, Drayton, and Ben Jhonson, had a merry meeting, and itt
seems drank too hard, for Shakespear died of a feavour there contracted.

When °the magotieheaded and exceedingly credulous’ John

Aubrey (1626-97) collected the material for his Brief Lives he relied
for his account of Shakespeare, at least in part, on William Beeston, an
old actor and the son of Christopher Beeston, one of Shakespeare’s
fellow-actors in the Chamberlain’s Company.!

Mr. William Shakespear was borne at Stratford vpon Avon, in the
County of Warwick; his father was a Butcher, & I have been told
heretofore by some of the neighbours, that when he was a boy he
exercised his father’s Trade, but when he kill’d a Calfe, he would

¢ doe it in a igh style, & make a Speech. There was at that time another

Butcher’s son in this ‘Towne, that was held not at all inferior to him
for a naturall witt, his acquaintance & coetanean, but dyed young.
This Wm. being inclined naturally to Poetry and acting, came to
London 1 guesse about 18 and was an Actor at one of the Play-houses
and did act exceedingly well: now B. Johnson was never a good actor
but an excellent instructor. He began early to make essayes at Drama-
tique Poetry, which at that time was very lowe; and his Playes tooke
well: He was a handsome well shap’t man: very good company, and of
a very ready and pleasant smooth Witt. The Humour of . . . the Con-
stable in a Midsomernight’s Dreame,? he happened to take at Grendon
in Bucks which is the roade from London to Stratford, and there
was living that Constable about 1642 when I first came to Oxon.
Mr. Jos. Howe is of that parish and knew him. Ben Johnson and he
did gather Humours of men dayly where ever they came. One time
as he was at the Tavern at Stratford super Avon, one Combes an
old rich Usurer was to be buryed, he makes there this extemporary
Epitaph:

1This Comeedie (Every Man in bis Humour) was first Acted, in the yeere 1598. By the
then L. Chamberlayne his Seruants. The principall Comcedians were:

Will Shakespeare. Ric. Burbadge.
Aug. Philir. Ioh. Hemings.
Hen. Condel. Tho. Pope.
Will. Slye. Chr. Beeston.
Will. Kempe. Ioh. Duke.

* Dogberry in Much Ado
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Ten in the Hundred the Devill allowes

But Comébes will have twelve, he sweares & vowes:
If any one askes who lies in this Tombe:

Hoh! quoth the Devill, "Tis my John o’ Combe.

He was wont to goe to his native Country once a yeare. I thinke I have
been told that he left 2 or 300" per annum there and thereabout: to a
sister. I have heard Sr Wm. Davenant and Mr. Thomas Shadwell (who
is counted the best Comcedian we have now) say, that he had a most
prodigious Witt, and did admire his naturall parts beyond all other
Dramaticall writers. He was wont to say, That he never blotted out a
line in his life: sayd Ben: Johnson, I wish he had blotted out a thou-
sand. ...
the more to be admired q[uia] he was not a company keeper lived
in Shoreditch, wouldnt be debauched, & if invited to writ; he was in
aine. . . .
P Though as Ben. Johnson sayes of him, that he had but little Latine
and lesse Greek, He understood Latine pretty well: for he had been in-
his younger yeares a Schoolmaster in the Countrey. .
Aubrey was the first to record the suggestion that Sir William
D’Avenant was Shakespeare’s illegitimate son. This he did with less
delicacy than Anthony Wood, for whose Athene Oxonienses he col-
lected his material, and it was probably Wood who censored the
passages printed in brackets:

Sr William Davenant Knight Poet Laureate was borne in street
in the City of Oxford, at the Crowne Taverne. His father was John
Davenant a Vintner there, a very grave and discreet Citizen; his mother
was a very beautifull woman, & of a very good witt and of conversation
extremely agreable . . . Mr William Shakespeare was wont to goe into
‘Warwickshire once a yeare, and did commonly in his journey lye at this
house in Oxon: where he was exceedingly respected. [I have heard
parson Robert D say that Mr W. Shakespeare here gave him a hundred
kisses.] Now Sr. Wm would sometimes when he was pleasant over a
glasse of wine with his most intimate friends e.g. Sam: Butler author of
Hudibras &c. say, that it seemed to him that he writt with the very
spirit that Shakespeare, and was seemed contentended enough to be
thought his Son: he would tell them the story as above. [in which way
his mother had a very light report, whereby she was called a whore.]

A letter from a Mr. Dowdall to his cousin describes his visit to
Stratford in 1693:

‘The clarke that shew’d me this Church is aboue 80 yrs old; he says
that this Shakespear was formerly in this Towne bound apprentice to a

2



18 SHAKESPEARE AND HIS CRITICS

butcher; but that he Run from his master to London, and there was
Recd into the playhouse as a serviture, and by this meanes had an opper-
tunity to be wt he afterwards prov’d. he was the best of his family but
the male Line is extinguished; not one for feare of the Curse abouesd
Dare Touch his Grave Stone, tho his wife and Daughters Did Earnestly
Desire to be Layd in the same Grave with him.

The first mention of the deer-stealing episode was made by Richard
Davies in a manuscript written some time between 1688 and 1708.
Davies became rector of Sapperton, near Cirencester in Gloucester-
shire, in 1695, and was buried there in 1708. The passages printed
in brackets are earlier entries by William Fulman, vicar of Maisey-
Hampton, Gloucestershire, from 1669 to 1688. Fulman’s papers
passed into the possession of Davies.

(William Shakespeare was born at Stratford upon Avon in Warwick-
shire about 1563-4.)

Much given to all unluckinesse in stealing venison and Rabbits par-
Yicularly from Sr Lucy who had him oft whipt & sometimes
Imprisoned & at last made Him fly his Native Country to his great
Advancemt. but His reveng was so great that he is his Justice Clodpate
and calls him a great man & yt in allusion to his name bore three lowses
rampant for his Arms

(From an Actor of Playes, he became a Composer. He dyed Apr. 23.
1616. Aetat 53, probably at Stratford, for there he is buryed, and hath
a Monument) on wc He lays a Heavy curse vpon any one who shal
remoove his bones He dyed a papist.

The first formal Life of Shakespeare was written by Nicholas Rowe
and prefixed to his edition of the plays in 1709, nearly a hundred years
after Shakespeare’s death. Rowe brings together the accumulated
traditions of the seventeenth century but adds some new ones, supplied
by the great actor Betterton, who, according to Rowe, went to
Stratford ‘to gather up what remains he could’. Malone says that this
was in 1708. Rowe’s Life perpetuated and popularised the traditions,
and the biographical prefaces of later eighteenth-century editors, of

Pope, Johnson, Steevens, are for the most part reprints of or variations
on the theme of Rowe.

He was the Son of Mr. Fokn Shakespear, and was Born at Stratford
upon Avon, in Warwickshire, in April 1564. His Family, as appears by
the Register and Publick Writings relating to that Town, were of good
Figure and Fashion there, and are mention’d as Gentlemen. His Father,
who was a considerable Dealer in Wool, had so large a Family, ten
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Children in all,’ that tho’ he was his eldest Son, he could give him no
better Education than his own Employment. He had bred him, ’tis true,
for some time at a Free-school, where ’tis probable he acquird that
little Latin he was Master of: But the narrowness of his Circumstances,
and the want of his assistance at Home, forc’d his Father to withdraw
him from thence, and unhappily prevented his further Proficiency in
that Language. . . .

Upon his leaving School, he seems to have given intirely into that way
of Living which his Father propos’d to him; and in order to settle in the
World after a Family manner, he thought fit to marry while he was yet
very Young. His Wife was the Daughter of one Hathaway, said to have
been a substantial Yeoman in the Neighbourhood of §trasford. In this
kind of Settlement he continu’d for some time, ’till an Extravagance
that he was guilty of, forc’d him both out of his Country and that way
of Living which he had taken up; and tho’ it seem’d at first to be a
Blemish upon his good Manners, and a Misfortune to him, yet it after-
wards happily prov’d the occasion of exerting one of the greatest Genius's
that ever was known in Dramatick Poetry. He had, by a Misfortune
common enough to young Fellows, fallen into ill Company; and amongst
them, some that made a frequent practice of Deer-stealing, engag’d him
with them more than once in robbing a Park that belong’d to Sir TAomas
Lucy of Cherlecot, near Stratford. For this he was prosecuted by that
Gentleman, as he thought, somewhat too severely; and in order to
revenge that ill Usage, he made a Ballad upon him. And tho’ this,
probably the first Essay of his Poetry, be lost, yet it is said to have been
so very bitter, that it redoubled the Prosecution against him to that
degree, that he was oblig’d to leave his Business and Family in Warwick-
shire, for some time, and shelter himself in London.

It is at this Time, and upon this Accident, that he is said to have
made his first Acquaintance with the Play-house. He was receiv’d into
the Company then in being, at first in a very mean Rank; but his ad-
mirable Wit, and the natural Turn of it to the Stage, soon distinguish’d
him, if not as an extraordinary Actor, yet as an excellent Writer. His
Name is Printed, as the Custom was in those Times, amongst those of
the other Players, before some old Plays, but without any particular
Account of what sort of Parts he used to play; and tho’ I have inquir’d,
I could never meet with any further Account of him this way, than that
the top of his Performance was the Ghost in his own Haml/er. . . .

Besides the advantages of his Wit, he was in himself a good-natur’d
Man, of great sweetness in his Manners, and a most agreeable Com-
panion; so that it is no wonder if with so many good Qualities he made
himself acquainted with the best Conversations of those Times. Queen

1 Betterton made a mistake here in his researches into the Stratford Parish Register.
Shakespeare’s father had eight children, two of whom were called Joan. Betterton may have

counted only one Joan, but added the three children of another John Shakespeare in the
Register.
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Elizabeth liad several of his Plays Acted before her, and without doubt
gave him many gracious Marks of her Favour: ... She was so well
pleas’d with that admirable Character of Fa/staff, in the two Parts of
Henry the Fourth, that she commanded him to continue it for one Play
more, and to shew him in Love. This’is said to be the Occasion of his
Writing Th¢ Merry Wives of Windsor. . . .

“What Grace soever the Queen confer’d upon him, it was not to her
only he ow’d the Fortune which the Reputation of his Wit made. He
had the Honour to meet with many great and uncommon Marks of
Favour and Friendship from the Earl of Southampton, famous in the
Histories of that Time for his Friendship to the unfortunate Earl of
Essex. It was to that Noble Lord that he Dedicated his Zesus and
Adonis, the only Piece of his Poetry which he ever publish’d himself,
tho’ many of his Plays were surrepticiously and lamely Printed in his
Life-time. ‘There is one instance so singular in the Magnificence of this
Patron of Shakespear’s, that if I had not been assur’d that the story was
handed down by Sir #illiam D’Avenant, who was probably very well
acquainted with his Affairs, I should not have ventur’d to have inserted,
that my Lord Southampton, at one time, gave him a thousand Pounds,
to enable him to go through with a Purchase which he heard he had a
mind to. A Bounty very great, and very rare at any time, and almost
equal to that profuse Generosity the present Age has shewn to Fremch
Dancers and Jta/ian Eunuchs.

What particular Habitude or Friendships he contracted with private
Men, I have not been able to learn, more than that every one who had
a true Taste of Merit, and could distinguish Men, had generally a just
Value and Esteem for him. His exceeding Candour and good Nature
must certainly have inclin’d all the gentler Part of the World to love
him, as the power of his Wit oblig’d the Men of the most delicate Know-
ledge and polite Learning to admire him. ... His Acquaintance with
Ben Foknson began with a remarkable piece of Humanity and good
Nature; Mr Foknson, who was at that Time altogether unknown to the
World, had offer’d one of his Plays to the Players, in order to have it
Acted; and the Persons into whose hands it was put, after having turn’d
it carelessly and superciliously over, were just upon returning it to him
with an ill-natur’d Answer, that it would be of no service to their Com-
pany, when Siakespear uckily cast his Eye upon it, and found something
so well in it as to recommend Mr Foknson and his Writings to the
Publick. After this they were profess’d Friends; tho’ I don’t know
whether the other ever made him an equal return of Gentleness and
Sincerity. . . .

Falstaff is allow’d by every body to be a Master-piece: the Character
is always well-sustain’d, tho’ drawn out into the length of three Plays;
. . . Amongst other Extravagances, in The Merry Wives of Windsor, he
has made him a Dear-stealer, that he might at the same time remember
his Warwickshire Prosecutor, under the Name of Justice 84a//ow; he
has given him verv near the same Coat of Arms which Dugdale. in his
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Antiquities of that County, describes for a Family there, and makes the
Welsk Parson descant very pleasantly upon ’em. . ..

I cannot leave Haml/et, without taking notice of the Advantage with
which we have seen this Master-piece of Sakespear distinguish it self
upon the Stage, by Mr. Betterton’s fine Performance of that Part. ...
I must own a particular Obligation to him, for the most considerable
part of the Passages relating to his Life, which I have here transmitted
to the Publick; his Veneration for the Memory of §kakespear having
engaged him to make a Journey into W arwickshire, on purpose to gather
up what Remains he could of 2 Name for which he had so great a
Value. . ..

The latter Part of his Life was spent, as all Men of good Sense will
wish theirs may be, in Ease, Retirement, and the Conversation of his
Friends. He had the good Fortune to gather an Estate equal to his
Occasion, and, in that, to his Wish; and is said to have spent some Years
before his Death at his native 8¢ratford. His pleasurable Wit, and good
Nature, engag’d him in the Acquaintance, and entitled him to the
Friendship of the Gentlemen of the Neighbourhood. Amongst them it
is a Story almost still remember’d in that Country, that he had a par-
ticular Intimacy with Mr Combe, an old Gentleman noted thereabouts
for his Wealth and Usury. ...

He Dy’d in the 53d Year of his Age, and was bury’d on the North
side of the Chancel, in the Great Church at 8¢rasford, where a Monu-
ment, as engrav’'d in the Plate, is plac’d in the Wall. . ..

He had three Daughters,! of which two liv’d to be marry’d; Fudis4,
the Elder, to one Mr TAomas Quiney, by whom she had three Sons, who
all dy’d without Children; and Swusammat, who was his Favourite, to
Dr Fokn Hall, a Physician of good Reputation in that Country. She left
one Child only, a Daughter, who was marry’d first to Thomas Nash,
Esq; and afterwards to Sir John Bernard of Abington, but dy’d likewise
without Issue.

This is what I could learn of any Note, either relating to himself or
Family: the Character of the man is best seen in his Writings.

Rowe’s Life firmly established the Shakespearean traditions and
encouraged the further accretions of the eighteenth century, which
became more and more remotely legendary until they merge into
patent forgeries like those of Charles Macklin, William Henry Ire-
land, and John Payne Collier. For instance, an anonymous writer in
1728 tells us how Shakespeare’s

being imperfect in some Things, was owing to his not being a Scholar,
which obliged him to have one of those chuckle-pated Historians for his
particular Associate, that could scarce speak a-Word but upon that

1 Another error. Shakespeare had three childrem, but one was a son, Hamnet, who died in
1596.
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Subject; and “he maintain’d him, or he might have starv’d upon his
History.

And in the following year ‘A Strolling Player’, possibly John Roberts,

laments

that T'wo large Chests full of this Great Man’s Joose Papers and Manu-
scripts, in the hands of an ignorant Baker of Warwick, (who married
one of the Descendants from SAakespear) were carelessly scatter’d and
thrown about, as Garret Lumber and Litter, to the particular Know-
ledge of the late §ir William Biskop, till they were all consum’d in the
generall Fire and Destruction of that Town.

By 1740 Shakespeare’s epitaph on John o’ Combe had acquired a
twin, another on Tom o’ Combe, John’s brother; and as was to be
expected, the ‘bitter ballad’, or at least one stanza of it, against Sir
Thomas Lucy, which Rowe reported as lost, turned up about the
middle of the century, preserved in the memory of ‘a very aged
gentleman’:

A parliemente member, a justice of peace,
At home a poor scare-crowe, at London an asse,
If lowsie is Lucy, as some volke miscalle it,
Then Lucy is lowsie whatever befall it:
He thinks himselfe greate,
Yet an asse in his state,
We allowe by his ears but with asses to mate.
If Lucy is lowsie, as some volke miscalle it,
Sing lowsie Lucy, whatever befall it.!

These verses are quoted by George Steevens in his edition of Shake-
speare, 1778. His authority was William Oldys, an antiquarian (1696-
1761), who wrote a Life of Shakespeare, now lost. ‘Mr Oldys’,
Steevens writes, ‘had covered several quires of paper with laborious
collections for a regular life of our author. ... The following par-
ticulars, which I shall give in the words of Oldys, are, for ought we
know to the contrary, as well authenticated as any of the anecdotes
delivered down to us by Rowe.” And possibly tc establish the authority
of Oldys at the expense of Rowe he relates how ‘in the manuscript
papers of the late Mr Oldys it is said, that one Bowman, “an actor
more than half an age on the London theatres”, was unwilling to
allow that his associate and contemporary Betterton had ever under-
taken such a journey’ (i.e., to Stratford).

1 Before the end of the century the complete ballad was discovered ‘in a chest of drawers,
that formerly belonged to Mrs. Dorothy Tyler, of Shottery, near Stratford’.
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The story of D’Avenant’s being the illegitimate son of Shakespeare
was a favourite one in the eighteenth century, and Oldys embroiders
the original version:

If tradition may be trusted, Shakespeare often baited at the Crown
Inn or Tavern in Oxford, in his journey to and from London. The land-
lady was a woman of great beauty and sprightly wit, and her husband,
Mr John Davenant (afterwards mayor of that city,) a grave melancholy
man, who as well as his wife used much to delight in Shakespeare’s
pleasant company. Their son young Will Davenant (afterwards Sir
William) was then a little school-boy in the town, of about seven or
eight years old, and so fond also of Shakespeare, that whenever he heard
of his arrival, he would fly from school to see him. One day an old
townsman observing the boy running homeward almost out of breath,
asked him whither he was posting in that heat and hurry. He answered,
to see his god-father Shakespeare. There’s a good boy, said the other,
but have a care that you don’t take God’s name in vain.

Oldys is also responsible for the tradition that Shakespeare acted the
part of Adam in As You Like It. He relates how one of the younger
brothers of Shakespeare used to go to London to see him act, and how

in his old age

all that could be recollected from him of his brother #7i//, in that
station was, the faint, general, and almost lost ideas he had of having
once seen him act a part in one of his own comedies, wherein being to
personate a decrepit old man, he wore a long beard, and appeared so
weak and drooping and unable to walk, that he was forced to be sup-
ported and carried by another person to a table, at which he was seated
among some company, who were eating, and one of them sung a song.

An anonymous letter in the British Magazine for 1762 gives the
first version of the crab-tree story:

My cheerful landlord . . . took me to the house where the poet was
born and there I saw a mulberry-tree of that great man’s planting, a
piece of which I brought away with me, to make tobacco-stoppers for
our vicar. ... From thence my landlord was so complaisant as to go
with me to visit two young women, lineal descendants of our great
dramatic poet: they keep a little ale-house, some small distance from
Stratford. On the road thither, at a place called Bidford, he shewed me
in the hedge, a crab-tree, called Shakespeare’s canopy, because under it
our poet slept one night; for he, as well as Ben Johnson, loved a glass
for the pleasure of society; and he, having heard much of the men of
that village as deep drinkers and merry fellows, one day went over to
Bidford, to take a cup with them. He enquired of a shepherd for the
Bidford drinkers; who replied they were absent; but the Bidford sippers
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were at home; and, I suppose, continued the sheepkeeper, they will be
sufficient for you: and so, indeed, they were. He was forced to take up
his lodging under that tree for some hours.

This story was picturesquely elaborated by John Jordan, who was
responsible for the discovery of the bitter ballad in the chest of drawers,
and who ingenuously introduces the anecdote as being ‘as well
authenticated as things of this nature generally are’.

Johnson in his edition of Shakespeare, 1765, had only one passage
to add to the Life of Rowe which he reprinted:

In the time of Elizabeth, coaches being yet uncommon, and hired
coaches not at all in use, those who were too proud, too tender, or too
idle to walk, went on horseback to any distant business or diversion.
Many came on horse-back to the play, and when Shakespear fled to
London from the terror of a criminal prosecution, his first expedient was
to wait at the door of the play-house, and hold the horses of those that
had no servants, that they might be ready again after the performance.
In this office he became so conspicuous for his care and readiness, that in
a short time every man as he alighted called for /#i/l. Shakespear, and
scarcely any other waiter was trusted with a horse while #i//. Shake-
spear could be had. This was the first dawn of better fortune. Siake-
spear ﬁnding more horses put into his hand than he could hold, hired
boys to wait under his inspection, who when Wi//. Shakespear was
summoned, were immediately to present themselves, 7 am Shakespear’s
boy, Sir. In time Shakespear found higher employment, but as long as
the practice of riding to the play-house continued, the waiters that held
the horses retained the appellation of Skakespear’s Boys.

According to Johnson the anecdote was communicated to Pope by
Rowe, but it is the same as that related by Robert Shiels, who was for
a time Johnson’s amanuensis, and Shiels prefaces his version by saying
that it is ‘a story which Sir William Davenant told Mr Betterton,
who communicated it to Mr Rowe; Rowe told it Mr Pope, and Mr
Pope told it to Dr Newton, the late editor of Milton, and from a
gentleman, who heard it from him, ’tis here related’.

Enough has been said to indicate the evolution of the Shakespeare
myth which, up till the time of Rowe, no doubt, contained a fair
element of truth, but which became more and more fanciful as
Shakespeare’s popularity waxed and the eighteenth century waned.
A more sceptical and critical attitude was taken by Edmund Malone
(1741-1812), with whom the scientific study of records may be said
to have begun, and by his successors, notably the indefatigable
Halliwell-Phillipps, whose Outlines of the Life of Shakespeare in its
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final form ran to nearly a thousand pages. It is to these records,
bibliographical, theatrical, and official, as well as to the traditions and
literary references that we must turn for a reconstruction of Shake-
speare’s life. Yet up till 1592, when Shakespeare was twenty-eight,
the only records of his existence are those of his baptism, his licence
to be married, and the baptism of his three children.

1564-1592
William Shakespeare’s grandfather was probably Richard Shake-

speare, a farmer of Snitterfield, a village four miles to the north of
Stratford. He had two sons, one of whom, Henry, died in debt in
1596, the other, John, the poet’s father, settling in Stratford about
1551 as a glover and dealer in agricultural produce. There he
prospered and took a considerable part in the affairs of the town. In
1552 he was living in Henley St., for in that year he was fined a
shilling for having a dunghill in front of his house. In 1556 he bought
two houses, one adjoining the ‘Birthplace’ in Henley St., the other in
Greenbhill St., and in 1575 he bought two more houses in Stratford,
but whereabouts we do not know; in 1590, however, he owned two
contiguous houses in Henley St. About 1557 he was elected a town
councillor, and in 1561 one of the two chamberlains of the borough;
in 1565 he was an alderman, in 1568 he held the important position
of bailiff, in which capacity he welcomed the first companies of actors
ever to visit Stratford, and in 1571 he was chief alderman.

Meanwhile, about 1557, he had married Mary Arden, the youngest
daughter of Robert Arden, a small landowner of Wilmcote near
Stratford, who when he died left Mary among other things some land
called Asbies, his chief property at Wilmcote. John Shakespeare and
Mary Arden had eight children, whose christenings are recorded in
the Register of Stratford parish church:?

1558, Sept. 15. C. Jone Shakspere daughter to John Shakspere.
1562, Dec. 2.C. Margareta filia Johannis Shakspere.

1563, Apr. 30. B. Margareta filia Johannis Shakspere.

1564, Apr. 26. C. Gulielmus filius Johannes Shakspere.

1566, Oct. 13. C. Gilbertus filius Johannis Shakspere.

1569, Apr. 15. C. Jone the daughter of John Shakspere.

1571, Sept. 28. C. Anna filia magistri Shakspere.

1574, Mar. 11. C. Richard sonne to Mr John Shakspeer.
1579, Apr. 4. B. Anne daughter to Mr John Shakspere.
1580, May 3.C. Edmund sonne to Mr John Shakspere.

! The Register begins in 1558, but the early records are transcribed until September
1600, probably by the vicar at that time, Richard Byfield.



26 SHAKESPEARE AND HIS CRITICS

It is assumed that the first Joan died in infancy before the christening
of the second Joan.

William, the first son and third child, was christened on April 26th,
but there is no evidence to show that he was born on April 23rd, the
traditional birthday, William Oldys in a marginal note of about 1750
apparently being the first to specify this date: “The son of Mr John
Shakespeare Wool Stapler was the eldest of Ten Children born 23 of
April 1563.* If we assume that the inscription on his monument is
correct: that he died on the 23rd of April 1616 in his 53rd year—
obiit anno etatis 53—we can only say that he was born some time
between April 24th, 1563, and April 23rd, 1564, otherwise he would
have died either in his 54th or in his 52nd year.

Nor do we know that he was born in the ‘Birthplace’, the western
house of the two in Henley St. His father had bought the eastern
one and a house in Greenhill St. in 1556, and William might have
been born in either of these, although it is possible that his father was
living as a tenant in the western house, which was almost certainly
one of the two houses that he bought in 1575. It was first identified
as the birthplace in 1759, and at the Jubilee of 1769 a ‘Birthroom’
was supplied for the benefit of pilgrims. The western house in Henley
St. was chosen, no doubt, because it had then been occupied for more
than a hundred years by the Harts, descendants of the poet’s sister
Joan, while for a hundred years the eastern half had been an inn.

William Shakespeare was, then, the son of a prosperous business
man, and of the daughter of a wealthy farmer who was probably
connected with some of the well-known county families. But of his
childhood and boyhood we know nothing, though it seems reasonable
to suppose that he went to the town grammar school, a good one,
which for the sons of burgesses was free, and provided a liberal educa-
tion mainly in the Latin language and literature for boys up to the age
of sixteen. He might have stayed there until 1580, though Rowe
affirms that ‘the narrowness of his circumstance, and the want of his
assistance at home, forced his father to withdraw him from school’.

Certainly when William was thirteen or fourteen his father appears
to have got into difficulties, for in 1578 he sold his wife’s interest in
her father’s Snitterfield estate for £4, let Asbies, and mortgaged her
other property at Wilmcote to her brother-in-law, Edmund Lambert,
for £40. Then followed a number of law-suits, a fine of £40, and
further embarrassment when he became involved in his brother
Henry’s affairs. In 1577 he ceased to attend the meetings of the

1 Oldys does not inspire confidence. John Shakespeare was not primarily a wool stapler,
and he had eight children, not ten. William was not the eldest child, and even if he was born
on April 23rd, it certainly was not in 1563.
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Corporation who, ten years later, appointed another alderman in his
place ‘for that Mr Shaxspere dothe not come to the halles when they
be warned nor hathe not done of longe tyme’. In September 1592 he
was prosecuted ‘for not comminge monethlie to churche accordinge
to hir Majesties lawes’, not because he was a recusant but, according
to the note of the commissioners, because of ‘feare of process for
debtte’.

After his baptism the next certain fact in Shakespeare’s life is the
record of his proposed marriage. There is no record of its solemnisa-
tion, but in the Bishop of Worcester’s Register is the Entry of Licence,
dated 27 Nov. 1582: ‘Item eodem die similis emanavit licencia inter
Willelmum Shaxpere et Annam Whateley de Temple Grafton.’
This was a special licence to expedite the marriage, which might then
be celebrated with only once asking of the banns, and the next day
Fulk Sandells and John Richardson, farmers of Stratford, entered into
a bond to exempt. the bishop from all liability should any impediment
later come to light imperilling the validity of the proposed marriage:

The condicion of this obligacion ys suche that if herafter there shall
not appere any Lawfull Lett or impediment by reason of any pre-
contract consanguinitie affinitie or by any other lawfull meanes what-
soeuer but that William Shagspere on thone partie, and Anne Hathwey
of Stratford in the Dioces of Worcester maiden may lawfully solennize
matrimony together and in the same afterwards remaine and continew
like man and wiffe according vnto the lawes in that behalf prouided, . . .
And moreouer if the said William Shagspere do not proceed to sol-
lenizacion of marriadg with the said Anne Hathwey without the consent
of hir frindes, And also if the said William do vpon his owne proper
costes and expenses defend & save harmles the right Reverend father
in god Lord John bushop of Worcester and his offycers for Licencing
them the said William and Anne to be maried togither with once
asking of the bannes of matrimony betwene them and for all other
causes which may ensue by reason or occasion thereof, That then the
said obligacion to be voyd and of none effect or els to stand & abide in
full force and vertue.

There is nothing irregular in this proceeding, though it suggests
haste, probably because Anne was already pregnant. But the dis-
crepancy between the name of Anne Whateley of Temple Grafton
in the licence and of Anne Hathwey of Stratford in the bond is odd.
The bond, a legal document, is almost certainly correct, and the clerk
who made up the record of licences in the Register must have made
a mistake in his entry. Presumably the marriage took place soon after
the granting of the licence.
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There were several Hathaways in the parish of Stratford, and there
is some uncertainty as to Anne’s parentage, but it seems probable that
she was the eldest daughter of Richard Hathaway of Shottery, who
occupied the house now known as Anne Hathaway’s cottage.!
According to the inscription on her tombstone Anne was eight years
older than her husband, who was only eighteen when he married her.

Shakespeare was married towards the end of 1582; his first child,
a daughter Susanna, was christened in Stratford parish church on
May 26th, 1583, the twins Hamnet and Judith on February 2nd,
1585:

1583, May 26. C. Susanna daughter to William Shakespeare.
1585, Feb. 2. C. Hamnet and Judeth sonne and daughter to William
Shakspere.

Then, from 1585 when he was twenty-cne to 1592 when he was
twenty-eight, there are no records of his doings or of his whereabouts,
and we are driven back to the traditions. Rowe tells us that, owing to
the deer-stealing episode, ‘he was oblig’d to leave his Business and
Family in Warwickshire, for some time, and shelter himself in
London’; Aubrey that he ‘came to London I guesse about 18". If
Shakespeare went to London when he was eighteen it must have
been very soon after his marriage, and it seems more reasonable to
assume that he left Stratford at the earliest not much before the time
of the birth of the twins at the beginning of 1585. As far as we know
Anne and the children stayed in Stratford, for there is no record of
her in London, though it is true that neither is there any further
record of her in Stratford before 1601. We do not know that Shake-
speare went straight from Stratford to London. Aubrey says that ‘he
had been in his younger years a schoolmaster in the country’, but he
meant before he went to London at eighteen. There is also a tradition
that he lived for a time at Dursley in the south Cotswolds. ‘I beseech
you, sir, to countenance William Visor of Woncot against Clement
Perkes o’ the hill’, says Davy to Justice Shallow. The village of
Woodmancote, or Woncot as it is pronounced locally, adjoins Dursley,
and both lie under Stinchcombe Hill. Arthur Vizar was buried in
Dursley churchyard in 1620, and there was a family of Perkes at
Stinchcombe in the sixteenth century. Dursley is only a dozen miles
west of Sapperton, where Richard Davies lived, the man who first
recorded Shakespeare’s ‘unluckiness in stealing venison and rabbits’,
and a few miles east of Berkeley Castle, which Dr Caroline Spurgeon

! The house remained in the Hathaway family until 1838; it was bought by the Birthplace
trustees in 1892.
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thinks Shakespeare had in mind when he wrote Macbeth. But when-
ever Shakespeare went to London, we know that he was there in
1592, and moreover that he had been there long enough to establish
a reputation as a dramatist.

1592-1596

Under March 3rd, 1592 (N.S.) Philip Henslowe recorded the
performance of a new play, probably at the Rose Theatre:

In the name of god Amen 1591 begininge the 19 of Febreary my
lord Stranges mene as ffoloweth 1591. ...
Mar. 3. ne Harey the vj iij" xvj* 84,

It was a popular success, for Thomas Nashe was almost certainly
referring to this play, Henry VI, Part 1, when he wrote in his Pierce
Penilesse (1592):

How would it have ioyed braue T'a/bot (the terror of the French) to
thinke that after he had lyne two hundred yeares in his T'ombe, hee
should triumphe againe on the Stage, and haue his bones newe em-
balmed with the teares of ten thousand spectators at least.

Six months later, on September 3rd, Robert Greene died, one of the
best known of the group of dramatists, the University Wits, who had
held the London stage for the last seven or eight years, and on his
death-bed he wrote a farewell and an exhortation to his fellow play-
wrights, Marlowe, Nashe, and Peele, in his Groatsworth of Wit
bought with a Million of Repentance:

To those Gentlemen his Quondam acquaintance, that spend their wits
in making plaies, R.G. wisheth a better exercise, and wisdome to preuent
his extremities. . . .

Base minded men all three of you, if by my miserie you be not warnd:
for vnto none of you (like mee) sought those burres to cleaue: those
Puppets (I meane) that spake from our mouths, those Anticks garnisht
in our colours. Is it not strange, that I, to whom they all haue beene
beholding: is it not like that you, to whome they all haue beene behold-
ing, shall (were yee in that case as I am now) bee both at once of them
forsaken? Yes trust them not: for there is an vpstart Crow, beautified
with our feathers, that with his Tygers Aart wrapt in a Players hyde,
supposes he is as well able to bombast out a blanke verse as the best of
you: and being an absolute Jokannes fac totum, is in his owne conceit
the onely Shake-scene in a countrey. O that I might intreat your rare
wits to be imploied in more profitable courses: & let those Apes imitate
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your past excellence, and neuer more acquaint them with your admired
inuentions. I knowe the best husband of you all will neuer proue an
Usurer, and the kindest of them all will neuer proue a kind nurse: yet,
whilest you may, seeke you better Maisters; for it is pittie men of such
rare wits, should be subiect to the pleasure of such rude groomes.

In this I might insert two more, that both haue writ against these
buckram Gentlemen: but lette their owne workes serue to witnesse
against their owne wickednesse, if they perseuere to maintaine any more
such peasants. For other new-commers, I leaue them to the mercie of
these painted monsters, who (I doubt not) will driue the best minded
to despise them: for the rest, it skils not though they make a ieast at
them.

The passage is ambiguous, but there can be no doubt that ‘Shake-
scene’ is a punning reference to Shakespeare, who is described as
having a “Tygers hart wrapt in a Players hyde’, an obvious parody
of the line in 3 Henry VI, ‘O tiger’s heart wrapt in a woman’s hide’.
This has been interpreted as meaning that Shakespeare, a presump-
tuous upstart without those benefits of a university education possessed
by Greene and the other University Wits, had had the audacity to
adapt their old plays, particularly the two parts of Henry VI w%ich
had been published anonymously as The First Part of the Contention
betwixt Yorke and Lancaster, and The true Tragedie of Richard Duke
of Yorke. It now seems certain, however, that these quartos were
corrupt and surreptitious copies of Shakespeare’s own text, published
later in the Folio as Henry VI, Parts 2 and 3, and the passage seems
to be more simply one of spite and self-pity, which might be para-
phrased, “These ungrateful actors (Puppets, Anticks, painted mon-
sters) who have profited by the performance of our plays will abandon
you just as they have abandoned me; for one of them, an uneducated
and unscrupulous upstart called Shakespeare, is imitating our work
and supplying his company with plays, and because he is an actor he
thinks he can write plays as well as we can. It is too late to do any-
thing about the plays which they already have, but you will be well
advised to turn to other forms of literature, or at any rate not to let
that company get' hold of any of your new work.” In other words,
here is a new and dangerous portent, a new type of popular dramatist
who is also an actor and will supply his company with plays; if the
actor-dramatist becomes a common figure, who is going to buy our
work, the plays of the professional and specialised dramatists?

However this may be interpreted in detail, there is no doubt of the
broad fact that Shakespeare was by 1592 an actor on the London
stage, and a dramatist who had already made a name for himself.
"This is confirmed by the printer Henry Chettle, who in his Kind-
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Harts Dreame, published in December 1592, apologised for the part
he had played in preparing Greene’s pamphlet for the press:

About three moneths since died M. Robert Greene, leaning many
papers in sundry Booke sellers hands, among other his Groatsworth of
wit, in which a letter written to diuers play-makers, is offensiuely by one
or two of them taken; and because on the dead they cannot be auenged,
they wilfully forge in their conceites a liuing Author: and after tossing
it to and fro, no remedy, but it must light on me. How I haue all the
time of my conuersing in printing hindered the bitter inueying against
schollers, it hath been very well knowne; and how in that I dealt, I can
sufficiently prooue. With neither of them that take offence was I
acquainted, and with one of them 1 care not if 1 neuer be: The other,
whome at that time I did not so much spare, as since I wish I had, for
that as I haue moderated the heate of liuing writers, and might have
vsde my owne discretion (especially in such a case) the Author being
dead, that I did not, I am as sorry as if the originall fault had beene my
fault, because my selfe haue seene his demeanor no lesse ciuill than he
exelent in the qualitie he professes: Besides, diuers of worship haue
reported his uprightnes of dealing, which argues his honesty, and his
facetious grace in writting, that aprooues his Art.

The first of ‘the play-makers that took offence’ was probably
Marlowe, to whom Greene had alluded as the creator of ‘that Atheist
Tamberlaine’, the second, Shakespeare. Some time between the
beginning of September and the end of November Chettle had met
Shakespeare, and it is worth emphasising his testimony, the earliest
first-hand account we have of Shakespeare, that he was as pleasant a
young man as he was excellent an actor, and that a number of im-
portant people had recognised the integrity of his character and his
promise as a playwright.

The history of the players’ companies at this time, when Shake-
speare first appears as actor and dramatist, is very confused. In the
eighties there were at least six companies of licensed adult actors:
Leicester’s, Oxford’s, Sussex’s, Worcester’s, the Admiral’s, and the
Queen’s. Of these the Queen’s Men were, from their formation in
1583 until 1590, the most important, but then two other companies
come to the fore, the Lord Admiral’s, whose leading actor was
Edward Alleyn, and Lord Strange’s. The latter company had been
strengthened by the addition of some of Leicester’s Men on the death
of the Earl of Leicester in 1588. Strange became Earl of Derby in
1593, and on his death in 1594 his place as patron was filled by the
Lord Chamberlain, Henry Carey, the first Lord Hunsdon, and
shortly after his death in 1596 by his son George Carey, second Lord
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Hunsdon, who also became Lord Chamberlain. It was Strange’s Men
who performed Henry VI, Part 1 in March 1592, but Henry VI,
Part 3 was acted by Pembroke’s Men, and Titus Andronicus, accord-
ing to the title-page of the 1594 Quarto, by ‘the Earle of Darbie,
Earle of Pembrooke, and ‘Earle of Sussex their Seruants’y and in June
1594 Henslowe records a performance of the play at Newington
Butts, where both ‘my Lord Admeralle men & my Lorde Chamberlen
men’ were playing. Before 1594, then, Shakespeare might have
written for a number of companies, but in December of that year
he performed at Court as a member of the Chamberlain’s Men,
probably as a sharer in the profits of the company: ‘Dec. 26, 27.
William Kempe William Shakespeare & Richard Burbage seruantes to
the Lord Chamberleyne’. Shakespeare remained with this company
until the end of his career on the stage, and there is no evidence that
he ever wrote for any other.

For the greater part of the years 1593 and 1594 the London
theatres were closed on account of the plague, and it has been con-
jectured, on the evidence of the plays with Italian settings, that
Shakespeare travelled in Italy. It has also been suggested that he
spent the time at Titchfield, the home of the young earl of South-
ampton, and there wrote a first version of the courtly Love’s Labour’s
Lost. More prosaically and more probably he went on tour in the
provinces with one of the companies, though there is no evidence of
his having done so. We have no record of Shakespeare’s whereabouts
from the end of 1592 when Chettle met him in London until the
end of 1594, when he was one of the Chamberlain’s Men; but it
was during the plague years that he published the two poems, Venus
and Adonis and The Rape of Lucrece.

Venus and Adonis, ‘the first heir of my invention’; the first book
issued under his own name, and apart from Lucrece the only book
that Shakespeare himself saw through the press, was published in
1593. It was dedicated to Henry Wriothesley,' third Earl of
Southampton, an immensely wealthy and handsome young man of
nineteen, a favourite of the Queen, a friend of Essex, and a patron
who appears to have stood Shakespeare in good stead. It is an
elaborate and artificial piece of work, the lovely imagery loosely
overlying the matter with which it has little organic connection,
static rather than dynamic, and though the theme is wanton it lacks
real passion, as though Shakespeare were more interested in the
purblind hare and the ‘dive-dapper peering through the wave’ than
in Venus leading Adonis ‘prisoner in a red-rose chain’. It was a

! Pronounced Rotsly or Rot-es-ly,
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popular poem: there are a number of contemporary allusions to it,
and it was reprinted nine times before his death, and, plays being
scarcely considered as serious literature, it established him as a literary
man. It was as a poet rather than as a dramatist that Shakespeare
first won recognition.

In the dedication Shakespeare had promised his patron ‘to take
aduantage of all idle houres, till I haue honoured you with some
grauer labour’, and in the following year he published The Rape of
Lucrece, again under his own name, and again with a dedication to
Southampton: “The loue I dedicate to your Lordship is without
end: . .. What I haue done is yours, what I haue to doe is yours,
being part in all I haue, deuoted yours.” Lucrece is more dramatic,
though more rhetorical and didactic, than Venus and Adonis, and it
enhanced still further Shakespeare’s reputation as a poet, being
reprinted for the fifth time in the year of his death.

Probably most of the Sonnets were written about this time, for
though they were not published till 1609, Francis Meres in his
Palladis Tamia of 1598 refers to ‘Shakespeare’s sugred Sonnets among
his private friends’. Many of them at least must have been written
about the time that he was writing Venus and Adonis and Lucrece and
dedicating them to Southampton, and it seems reasonable to infer that
the friend and patron addressed in them was Southampton himself.
It will be remembered that Rowe on the authority of D’Avenant
records how ‘my Lord Southampton at one time gave him a thousand
pounds to go through with a purchase which he heard he had a mind
to’. The sum is fantastically large, equal to almost £10,000 of our
money, but it is possible that the patron, honoured by two dedications,
and perhaps the theme of the Sonnets, gave Shakespeare a sum of
money. If so the ‘purchase which he had a mind to’ might have been
the buying of ‘a fellowship in a cry of players’. Southampton came
of age in October 1594, and shortly afterwards Shakespeare was a
member of the Lord Chamberlain’s Company, acting at Court, while
his Comedy of Errors was performed at Gray’s Inn on the following day.

7 It is probable that the Sonnets reflect a real episode in Shakespeare’s
life. Though the Elizabethan sonnet was admittedly an artificial
form, and a sonnet sequence a fashionable and courtly convention,
it is possible that Shakespeare really had a deep attachment for a young
and influential friend who robbed him of his mistress and showed
favour to a rival poet, that there were quarrels, estrangements, and
reconciliations. There is nothing improbable in the story, but to
pursue it too literally is to pursue phantoms, for we really do not
know who was the friend, or the other poet, or the dark lady. Maybe

3
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the actors were all spirits; but they sound like substance, and the
ecstasy and pride, the anguish and distress, appear to be more than
manufactured emotions.

- Tt is also possible that there is a reference to another love affair of
Shakespeare’s in a book written about this time. Towards the end of
1594 Henry Willobie published a long dramatic poem called #illobie
his Avisa, or the True Picture of a Modest Maid and of a Chaste and
Constant Wife, in which he tells how the virtuous Avisa is assailed
by a number of lovers, and finally by H.W. himself. In a prose
argument to this section of the poem he describes how he confides in
‘his familiar friend W.S,, the old player’, who was ‘newly recovered
of the like infection’—not necessarily for Avisa—and who turns out
to be a ‘miserable comforter’:

H.W. being sodenly infected with the contagion of a fantasticall fit,
at the first sight of 4, pyneth a while in secret griefe, at length not able
any longer to indure the burning heate of so feruent a humour, be-
wrayeth the secresy of his disease vnto his familiar frend W. S. who not
long before had tryed the curtesy of the like passion, and was now newly
recouered of the like infection; yet finding his frend let bloud in the
same vaine, he took pleasure for a tyme to see him bleed, & in steed of
stopping the issue, he inlargeth the wound, with the sharpe rasor of a
willing conceit, perswading him that he thought it a matter very easy
to be compassed, & no doubt with payne, diligence & some cost in time
to be obtayned. Thus this miserable comforter comforting his frend
with an impossibilitie, eyther for that he now would secretly laugh at
his frends folly, that had giuen occasion not long before vnto others to
laugh at his owne, or because he would see whether an other could play
his part better than himselfe, & in vewing a far off the course of this
louing Comedy, he determined to see whether it would sort to a happier
end for this new actor, then it did for the old player. But at length this
Comedy was like to have growen to a T'ragedy, by the weake & feeble
estate that W.H. was brought vnto, by a desperate vewe of an impossi-
bility of obtaining his purpose, til Time & Necessity, being his best
Phisitions brought him a plaster, if not to heale, yet in part to easc his
maladye.

< To what extent the poem is biographical is difficult to say, but the
theatrical imagery and the reference to W.S. as the old actor are
suggestive. Add to this the counsel that W.S. gives to H.W.:

She is no Saynt, She is no Nonne,
I thinke in tyme she may be wonne,

which recalls Sonnet 41:
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Gentle thou art, and therefore to be won, {
Beauteous thou art, therefore to be assailed,

and the fact that the reference to Shakespeare and his Lucrece in the
commendatory verses affixed to the poem is the first known literary
mention of his name, and it appears possible that W.S. is Shakespeare:

Though Co//atine haue deerely bought,

To high renowne, a lasting life,

And found, that most in vaine haue sought,

To have a Faire, and Constant wife,
Yet Targuyne pluckt his glistering grape,
And Skake-speare, paints poore Lucrece rape.

If W.S. is Shakespeare it is just possible that the Mr W.H. of the
Sonnets is Henry Willobie. We know little about him save that he
was an Oxford man and ‘a scholler of very good hope’ who went
abroad ‘voluntarily to her Maiesties service’.

The next reference to Shakespeare is in the register of Stratford
parish church: 1596, Aug. 11. B. Hamnet filius William Shakspere.
We must assume that from the end of 1594 to the summer of 1596
he was acting with the Chamberlain’s Men and writing plays for
them, and by the time of Hamnet’s death he had probably written the
following poems and plays:

Poems: Venus and Adonis, Lucrece, Sonnets, (A Lover's Complaint?)

Comedies: T'he Comedy of Errors, The Two Gentlemen of Verona, Love's
Labour’s Lost, The Taming of the Shrew.

Histories: Henry VI Parts 1, 2, 3, Richard 111, Richard I1.

Tragedies: Titus Andronicus, Romeo and Fuliet.

At the age of thirty-two, therefore, we find Shakespeare with
some fourteen works to his credit, no longer an upstart crow but a
very successful dramatist and poet, a comparatively wealthy man, a
member of the leading company of actors, numbering Richard
Burbage, William Kempe, John Heminge, Henry Condell, and
Augustine Phillips among his colleagues and friends, according to
Henry Chettle a charming man to meet, and acknowledged by
‘divers of worship’, the chief of whom was his patron, and possibly
his intimate friend, the Earl of Southampton.

1596-1600

In 1596 Shakespeare was primarily a poet and a writer of dramatic
poetry, that is of plays to which the poetry is more or less loosely
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and indiscriminately applied, as in Love’s Labour’s Lost and Romeo
and Fuliet; as yet the play is little more than a pretext for the poetry.
With the exception of Richard IT and the not over-subtle Richard 111,
few of the serious characters in these early plays have much indi-
viduality. But there is another element applied to the framework of
the plays besides the poetry, the prose comedy, and already there is
a formidable list of comic characters drawn largely from low life, of
whom Launce and Juliet’s nurse are the best known, and it was
through the medium of comedy—*‘pastoral-comical’ and ‘comical-
historical’—that, during the next four or five years, Shakespeare was
to develop the art of dramatic writing in which language and character
are integrated and complementary.

On August 11th, 1596, Shakespeare’s only son Hamnet, aged
eleven and a half, was buried at Stratford, and it is possible that King
John, which deals with the death of the young Prince Arthur, was
written towards the end of this year. Anyway, it is reasonable to
assume that Shakespeare came to Stratford for the funeral and renewed
his acquaintance with his native town and the family which for ten
or twelve years he can have seen but little of; though, according to
Aubrey, ‘he was wont to goe to his native Country once a yeare’,
there are no records of his being in Stratford during this time. Nor
do we know how Anne and her children fared, the only mention of
her between hier marriage and her husband’s death being that of her
indebtedness to Thomas Whittington of Shottery, a debt that was
still unpaid according to his will in 1601:

Item I geve and bequeth unto the poore people of Stratford 40*. that
is in the hand of Anne Shaxsperé, wyf unto Mr Wyllyam Shaxspere,
and is due debt unto me, beyng payd to myne Executor by the said
Wyllyam Shaxspere or his assigns, accordyng to the true meanyng of
this my wyll.

But in addition to Hamnet’s death there is other evidence to show
that he resumed his relations with Stratford. In 1596 the persecution
of his father for debt ceased, and there can be little doubt that it was
his son’s energy that made John Shakespeare apply to the College of
Heralds for a grant of arms, an action which he had first contemplated
when he was bailiff of Stratford in 1568-69. A draft was prepared in
October 1596, and the grant was apparently made, for in 1599 he
made a further application for leave to impale the arms of Arden. It
is not certain that this second grant was made, for if it was the privilege
was not exercised. The draft of 1599 is largely a repetition of that
of 1596 and reads as follows:
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« - « Wherfore being solicited and by credible report informed, That
John Shakespere, nowe of Stratford vppon Avon in the Counte of
Warwik Gentleman, Whose parent great Grandfather and late Ante-
cessor, for his faithefull & approved service to the late most prudent
prince king H 7 of famous memorie, was aduanced & rewarded with
Landes and Tenements geven to him in those partes of Warwikeshere
where they have continewed bie some descentes in good reputacon &
credit. And for that the said John Shakespere, having maryed the
daughter & one of the heyrs of Robert Arden of Wellingcote in the said
countie, And also produced this his Auncient cote of Arms heretofore
Assigned to him whilest he was her maiesties officer & Baylife of that
Towne. In consideration of the premisses, And for the encouragement
of his posterite vnto whom suche Blazon of Arms & atchevementes of
inheritance from theyre said mother, by the auncyent Custome & Lawes
of Arms may Lawfullie descend, We the said Garter and Clarentieulx
have Assigned, graunted, & confirmed & by these presentes exemplified
Vnto the said John Shakespere, and to his posterite that Shield and cote
of Arms viz. In a field of Gould vppon a Bend Sables A Speare of the
first the poynt vpward hedded Argent, And for his creast or cognizance
A Falcon, with his wynges displayed, standing on a wrethe of his
coullers Supporting a Speare Armed hedded or & steeled sylvor fixed
vppon a helmet with mantelles & tasselles as more playnly maye appeare
depicted on this Margent. And we have lykewise vppon an other
escucheone impaled the same with the Auncyent Arms of the said
Arden of Wellingcote, Signefeing thereby that it maye & shalbe Lawe-
full for the said John Shakespere gentleman to beare & vse the same
Shieldes of Arms Single or impaled as aforesaid during this natural Lyfe,
And that it shalbe Lawfull for his children yssue & posterite (Lawfully
begotten) to beare vse & quarter & shewe forthe the same with theyre
dewe differences. . . .

In 1602 there was some criticism of the grant, to which Garter and
Clarencieux Kings of Arms replicd that ‘the man was A magestrat
in Stratford vpon Avon. A Justice of peace he maryed A daughter
and heyre of Ardern, and was of good substance and habelité.’

In May 1597 Shakespeare bought New Place, the biggest house
in Stratford, for £60:

Inter Willielmum Shakespeare querentem et Willielmum Underhill
generosum deforciantem, de vno mesuagio duobus horreis et duobus
gardinis cum pertinenciis in Stratford super Avon, . . . Et pro hac
recognicione, remissione, quieta clamancia, warantia, fine et concordia
idem Willielmus Shakespeare dedit predicto Willielmo Underhill
sexaginta libras sterlingorum.

A curious incident was connected with the transaction: the vendor,
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William Underhill, was poisoned by his son Fulke, and Shakespeare
had to complete the transfer with the younger brother Hercules, who
succeeded to the estate in 1602. In this second deed Shakespeare is
described as generosus, or gentleman, and the house as being equipped
not only with two barns and two gardens but with two orchards
(duobus pomariis) as well. New Place had been built by Sir Hugh
Clopton about a hundred years earlier and was described by Leland
in the middle of the sixteenth century as ‘a praty howse of brike and
tymbar’, though shortly afterwards it was ‘in great ruyne and decay’.
Shakespeare did not settle there permanently until 1610, though on
February 4th, 1598, he is described as a householder in Chapel Street
ward, and the owner of ten quarters of corn or malt. There was at
this time a shortage of corn owing to a series of wet summers, the
effect of which Shakespeare describes in A4 Midsummer Night’s
Dream:

"Therefore the winds, piping to us in vain,

As in revenge, have suck’d up from the sea

Contagious fogs; which, falling in the land,

Have every pelting river made so proud,

"That they have overborne their continents:

The ox hath therefore stretch’d his yoke in vain,

The ploughman lost his sweat; and the green corn

Hath rotted ere his youth attain’d a beard.

In order to prevent the hoarding of corn the Privy Council ordered
stocks to be sold in the open market and an inventory to be made.
Shakespeare may have been, in the words of the Council, one of the
‘wycked people in condicions more lyke to wolves or cormerants than
to naturell men’, though as he was almost certainly in London at the
time he may have known nothing about the matter." Perhaps the
engrosser was T homas Greene, who claimed to be Shakespeare’s cousin
and was living at New Place in 1609.

It was probably William who persuaded his father to try to recover
his mother’s Wilmcote property which had been mortgaged to Edmund
Lambert in 1578. John Shakespeare had tried to recover it on
Edmund’s death in 1587 when it had passed to his son John, and in
1597 he made a further attempt by bringing a suit in Chancery.

Further evidence of his renewed intimacy with Stratford is con-
tained in the correspondence of Richard Quiney, the son and partner
of Adrian Quiney, a mercer of Stratford, and the father of Thomas
Quiney, who in 1616 married Shakespeare’s daughter Judith. On

1 See Abraham Sturley’s letter, dated 24 Jan. 1598, to Richard Quiney, who was then in
London.
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January 24th, 1598, Abraham Sturley, a brother member of the town
Corporation, wrote, at the instigation of Adrian Quiney, to Richard
who was in London, suggesting that he might interest Shakespeare
in ‘our tithes’:

This is one speciall remembrance from vr fathers motion. It semeth
bj him that our countriman, Mr Shaksper, is willinge to disburse some
monei vpon some od yardeland or other att Shottri or neare about vs;
he thinketh it a verj fitt patterne to move him to deale in the matter of
our tithes. Bj the instruccions v can geve him theareof, and bj the frendes
he can make therefore, we thinke it a faire marke for him to shoote att,
and not unpossible to hitt. It obtained would advance him in deede,
and would do vs muche good.

On November 4th, 1598, Sturley acknowledged a letter from
Richard:

Vr letter of the 25 of October came to mj handes the laste of the
same att night per Grenwaj, which imported . . . that our countriman
Mr Wm. Shak. would procure vs monej, which I will like of as I shall
heare when, and wheare, and howe; and I praj let not go that occasion
it it may sort to any indifferent condicions. Allso that if monej might
be had for 30 or 40!, a lease, &c., might be procured.

A few days before, Adrian had written to his son:

Yff yow bargen with Mr Sha.. or receve money therfor, br¥nge
your money home yf yow maye, I see howe knite stockynges Be sold,
ther ys gret byinge of them at Evysshome. Edward Wheat and Harrye,
your brother man, were both at Evyshome thys daye scnet, and, as I
harde, bestow 20". ther in knyt hosseyngs, wherefore I thynke yow
maye doo good, yff yow can have money.

Evidently Sturley and the Quineys were in need of ready money and
looked to the prosperous owner of New Place to help them out of
their difficulties. But the most interesting letter is that written by
Richard to Shakespeare himself:

Loveinge Contreyman, I am bolde of yowe as of a firende, craveinge
yowre helpe with xxx! vppon Mr Bushells & my securytee or Mr
Myttons with me. Mr. Rosswell is nott come to London as yeate & I
have especiall cawse. Yowe shall firende me muche in helpeinge me out
of all the debettes I owe in London, I thancke god, & muche quiet my
mynde which wolde nott be indebeted. Iam nowe towardes the Cowrte
in hope of answer for the dispatche of my Buysenes. Yowe shall neither
loase creddytt nor monnney by me, the Lorde wyllinge, & nowe butt
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perswade yowre selfe soe as I hope & yowe shall nott need to feare butt
with all hartie thanckefullenes I will holde my tyme & content yowre
firende, & yf we Bargaine farther yowe shalbe the paiemaster yowre
self. My tyme biddes me hasten to an ende & soe I committ thys yowre
care & hope of yowre helpe. I feare I shall nott be backe thys night
firom the Cowrte. Haste. The Lorde be with yowe & with vs all Amen.
firom the Bell in Carter Lane the 25 October 1598. Yowres in all
kyndenes Ryc. Quyney.

The letter is addressed “T'o my Loveinge good ffrend & countreymann
Mr Wm. Shackespere’.

It was on the same day, October 25th, that Richard wrote to
Sturley telling him that ‘Mr Wm. Shak. would procure vs monej’,
and Sturley in his reply mentions £30 or £40, the sum that Richard
had asked for. It seems probable that Shakespeare lost no time in
answering his friend’s request.

But though Shakespeare thus renewed his acquaintance with Strat-
ford and restored the fortunes of his family, for the next fourteen or
fifteen years he lived for most of the time in London. Some time
before the end of 1597 he had been living in St. Helen’s, Bishopsgate,
near The Theatre, for in the November of that year the petty col-
lectors within the ward reported that William Shackspere owed ss.
and was one of the persons who

are all ether dead, departed, and gone out of the sayde warde or their
goodes soe eloigned or conveyd out of the same or in suche a pryvate
or coverte manner kept, whereby the severall sommes of money on them
severallye taxed and assessed towards the sayde secound payment of the
sayde last subsydye nether mighte nor coulde by anye meanes by them
the sayde petty collectors, or ether of them, be levyed of them, or anye
of them, to her Maiesties use.

In October 1598 he was assessed, again in St. Helen’s, at 13s. 4d. on
goods valued at £g, but failed to pay when the sum was due a year
later, and his name appears on the Pipe Roll of 1598-9 and 1599-
1600 as debtor to the Exchequer for 13s. 4d. As the debt was then
referred to the Bishop of Winchester, who was responsible for the
collection of taxes in the liberty of the Clink on the Surrey Bankside,
he seems to have moved across the river to Southwark some time
before the end of 1599. The Globe theatre was built in Southwark
on the Bankside in 1599, and it is possible that he moved in order to
be near it. Malone in 1796 professed to have ‘a curious document
which affords the strongest presumptive evidence that he continued
to reside in Southwark to the year 1608’, though in 1604 Shakespeare
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lodged for a time in the house of Christopher Mountjoy in Cripplegate
ward. In the deposition of May 1612 in the Belott-Mountjoy suit
he is described as “William Shakespeare of Stratford vpon Aven in the
Countye of Warwicke gentleman of the age of xlviij yeres or there-
aboutes’.

This return to the scenes of his early life seems to have affected
Shakespeare’s imagination strongly, for all through the plays of this
period run references to the Warwickshire and Gloucestershire country-
side, their villages and inhabitants. A list of the plays probably written
during this period (summer 1596 to the end of 1600) is suggestive:

Comedies: A Midsummer Night's Dream, The Merchant of Venice, The
Merry Wives of Windsor, Much Ado About Nothing, As You
Like It, Tewelfth Night.

Histories: King Foin, Henry IV Parts I and 11, Henry V.

There can be no doubt that Bottom and his friends are natives of
Warwickshire, and that the fairy-haunted and moon-lit wood near
Athens is the same as that frequented in daylight by Rosalind,
Touchstone, and Jaques, and that both are identical with the Warwick-
shire Forest of Arden. The Induction to The Taming of the Shrew,
which may belong to this period, introduces Christopher Sly, ‘old
Sly’s son of Burtonheath, by present profession a tinker’, and if we
don’t believe him he tells us to ask ‘Marian Hacket, the fat ale-wife
of Wincot’, if she know him not. Barton on the Heath was the home
of Shakespeare’s uncle Edmund Lambert, and Wincot is a tiny hamlet
four miles south of Stratford, near Quinton, where Sara, daughter of
Robert Hacket, was baptised in November 1591. In the Second Part
of Henry IV some of the best comedy in Shakespeare takes place in
Justice Shallow’s orchard on the Cotswolds. Justice Shallow himself
may be Sir Thomas Lucy of Charlecote, the reputed persecutor of
Shakespeare for deer-stealing; Shallow mentions as one of the friends
of his youth Will Squele, a Cotswold man, and is at first loath ‘to
countenance William Visor of Woncot against Clement Perkes of
the Hill’, a refercnce to the Vizars of Woodmancote and the Perkes
family of the neighbouring Stinchcombe Hill on the edge of the south
Cotswolds. Justice Shallow again appears as a figure of fun in The
Merry Wives of Windsor, and it is his cousin Slender who asks Page,
‘How does your fallow greyhound, sir? 1 heard he was outrun on
Cotsall.” It is impossible to resist the conclusion that the plays of this
period were partly inspired by a prolonged visit to Stratford in 1596.

Six years after Greene’s malicious remarks about the upstart crow
occurs a very different sort of reference to Shakespeare. On September
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7th, 1598, a book called Palladis Tamia: Wits Treasury was entered
in the Stationers’ Register and published shortly afterwards. It was
written by Francis Meres, a Cambridge graduate then living in
London, and among other matter, literary and moral, contains ‘A
comparatiue discourse of our English poets with the Greeke, Latine,
and Italian Poets’. Of Shakespeare he writes:

As the soule of Euphorbus was thought to liue in Pythagoras: so the
sweete wittie soule of Ouid liues in mellifluous & hony-tongued Skake-
speare, witnes his Venus and Adonis, his Lucrece, his sugred Sonnets
among his priuate friends, &c.

As Plautus and Senmeca are accounted the best for Comedy and
Tragedy among the Latines: so SAakespeare among the English is the
most excellent in both kinds for the stage; for Comedy, witnes his
Gentlemen of Verona, his Errors, his Loue labors lost, his Loue labours
wonne, his Midsummers night dreame, & his Merchant of Venice: for
Tragedy his Rickard the 2. Rickard the 3. Henry the 4. King Iokn,
Titus Andronicus and his Romeo and Iuliet.

As Epius Stolo said, that the Muses would speake with Plantus
tongue, if they would speak Latin: so I say that the Muses would speak
with §Aakespeares fine filed phrase, if they would speake English.

Despite its preposterous pedantry this reference is invaluable as an
aid in dating the plays, and interesting in that it shows that a man
with some pretensions to be a judge ranked Shakespeare as the greatest
English dramatist of the day.

Shakespeare worked very hard during these four years, 1597-1600,
writing more than two plays a year in addition to his work as an actor.
At the age of thirty-four he was according to Meres ‘the most excellent
in both kinds for the stage’, and that his name carried weight is sug-
gested by the publication with his name on the title-page of The
Passionate Pilgrim in 1599; even as early as 1595 The Tragedy of
Locrine was advertised as being by W.S., possibly with the intention
of deluding the public into the belief that it was by Shakespeare.
Again Rowe records the tradition that when Ben Jonson was ‘alto-
gether unknown to the World’, it was Shakespeare who secured the
acceptance of one of his plays after it had been rejected; and Shake-
speare’s name stands first in the list of actors who took part in the
original production of Every Man in his Humour in 1598.

In that year the Chamberlain’s Men were playing at The Curtain
in Moorfields; for two years before that, and probably longer, they
had been at The Theatre in Shoreditch, but it was in such bad repair
that it was pulled down and its materials used by Cuthbert and Richard
Burbage in the construction of the Globe on the Bankside, which
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was opened in 1599. This remained their headquarters, though after
their acquisition in 1608 of the Blackfriars, which had a roof and
was therefore more suitable for winter performances, it lost some of
its original importance. There is an informative statement by Cuthbert
Burbage made in 1635 when he was engaged in litigation about his
rights in the Globe and Blackfriars theatres:

The father of vs Cutbert and Richard Burbage was the first builder
of Playhowses, and was himselfe in his younger yeeres a Player. The
Theater hee built with many Hundred poundes taken vp at interest.
The players that liued in those first times had onely the proffits arising
from the dores, but now the players receaue all the commings in at the
dores to themselues and halfe the Galleries from the Houskepers. Hee
built this house vpon leased ground, by which meanes the landlord and
Hee had a great suite in law, and by his death, the like troubles fell on
vs, his sonnes; wee then bethought vs of altering from thence, and at
like expence built the Globe with more summes of money taken vp at
interest, which lay heauy on vs many yeeres, and to our selues wee
ioyned those deserueing men, Shakspere, Hemings, Condall, Philips and
others partners in the profittes of that they call the House, but makeing
the leases for twenty-one yeeres hath beene the destruction of our selues
and others, for they dyeing at the expiration of three or four yeeres of
their lease, the subsequent yeeres became dissolued to strangers, as by
marrying with their widdowes, and the like by their Children. Thus,
Right Honorable, as concerning the Globe, where wee our selues are
but lessees. Now for the Blackfriers that is our inheritance, our father
purchased it at extreme rates and made it into a playhouse with great
charge and troble, which after was leased out to one Euans that first
sett up the Boyes commonly called the Queenes Majesties Children of
the Chappell. In processe of time the boyes growing vp to bee men,
which were Vnderwood, Field, Ostler, and were taken to strengthen
the Kings service, and the more to strengthen the service, the boyes
dayly wearing out, it was considered that house would bee as fitt for our
selues, and soe purchased the lease remaining from Euans with our
money, and placed men Players, which were Hemings, Condall,
Shakspeare, &c.

It is necessary to distinguish the actors, who were sharers in the
net profits of the company, from the ‘housekeepers’, who were part-
owners of the theatre for which the actors paid rent, and who were
responsible for its upkeep. The patent of May 19th, 1603, when the
Chamberlain’s Men became the King’s Men, gives nine actor-
sharers, though it is probable that the position of Lawrence Fletcher,
who had been ‘comediane serviture’ to James in Scotland, was only
honorary:
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Wee. .doe licence and aucthorize theise our Seruantes Lawrence
Fletcher, William Shakespeare, Richard Burbage, Augustyne Phillippes,
Iohn Heninges, Henrie Condell, William Sly, Robert Armyn, Richard
Cowly, and the rest of theire Associates freely to vse and exercise the
Arte and faculty of playing Comedies, ‘Tragedies, histories, Enterludes,
moralls, pastoralls, Stageplaies and Suche others like as theie haue
alreadie studied or hereafter shall vse or studie aswell for the recreation
of our lovinge Subjectes as for our Solace and pleasure when wee shall
thincke good to see them duringe our pleasure.

Some of the actor-sharers were also housekeepers, for when the Globe
was built Richard and Cuthbert Burbage kept a half interest in it for
themselves, and divided the other half among Shakespeare, Phillips,
Pope, Heminge, and Kempe. This is made clear in a statement by
Heminge and Condell during a lawsuit of 1619:

The said gardens and groundes wherevpon the said playhowse &
galleryes were afterwardes builded were demised & letten by the said
Nicholas Brend by his indenture of lease tripartite bearing date in or
about the xxj™ day of February in the xIj'™® yeere of the raigne of the
late Queene Elizabeth vnto Cuthbert Burbadge, Richard Burbadge,
William Shakespeare, the said Augustine Phillipps, Thomas Pope, the
said John Heminges one of the said defendantes, and William Kempe,
to have and to hould the one moitie of the said garden plottes and ground
to the said Cuthbert Burbadge and Richard Burbadge, their executours,
administratours & assignes, from the feast of the birth of our Lord God
last past before the date of the said indenture vnto thend & terme of
xxxj yeeres from thence next ensuing for the yeerely rent of seaven
poundes & five shillinges, and to haue & to hould thother moitie of the
said garden plottes & groundes vnto the said William Shakespeare,
Augustine Phillipps, Thomas Pope, the said John Heminges one of the
said defendantes, & William Kempe, their executours, administratours
& assignes, from the said feast of the birth of our Lord God then last
past before the date of the said indenture vnto the said full end & terme
of xxxj yeeres from thence next ensuing for the like yeerely rent of
seaven poundes & five shillinges. Which said William Shakespeare,
Augustine Phillipps, Thomas Pope, John Heminges & William Kempe
did shortlie after graunte & assigne all the said moitie of & in the said
gardens & groundes vnto William Levison and Thomas Savage, who
regraunted & reassigned to euerye of them seuerally a fift parte of the
said moitie of the said gardens & groundes, vpon which premisses or
some part thereof there was shortly after built the said then playhowse.

In 1599, therefore, the two Burbages held half of the shares in the
Globe between them, and Shakespeare had a tenth; Kempe left the
company in the same year, so that Shakespeare then held an eighth,
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though this was reduced to a fourteenth by the entry of Condell,
Sly, and Ostler between 1605 and 1612. In the Blackfriars, accord-
ing to the original lease of August gth, 1608, he held a seventh of the
shares, which after the death of Sly in that year became a sixth, but
reverted to a seventh on the entry of Ostler in 1611. There is no
mention of these shares in Shakespeare’s will, and it is possible that
he sold them on his retirement or after the fire at the Globe in 1613.

Sir Sidney Lee calculated that ‘Shakespeare in the latter period of
his life was earning above £600 a year in money of the period’, but
Sir Edmund Chambers has shown that this is a great over-estimate.
From statements made in the Burbage suit of 1635 he estimates that
if Shakespeare had been at that date an actor-sharer and a housekeeper
both at the Globe and Blackfriars theatres his total profits would have
been about £205. It is improbable that Shakespeare ever made more
than this, and it might often be considerably less, for owing to the
plague the London theatres were shut and the players forced to travel
for the last three months of 1605, the last half of 1606 and of 1607,
and from August 1608 to November 1609. Shakespeare may have
given up acting soon after the accession of James I, for although he
heads the list of “The Names of the Principall Actors in all these
Playes’ prefixed to the First Folio,! the last record of his performing
is late in 1603, when he played in Ben Jonson’s Sejanus. If so, and
he continued to draw his profit as an actor-sharer, it was probably in
return for the plays with which he supplied the company. Neverthe-
less, Shakespeare was a comparatively wealthy man; by 1600 his
income may well have been the equivalent of £1,000 to £1,500 in
our money, and ten years later £1,500 to £2,000.

1600-1609

The turn of the century is also a turning point in Shakespeare’s
career as a dramatist: the carefree comedies cease abruptly and the
great series of tragedies begins, quietly enough, with Fulius Cesar

! William Shakespeare. Samuel Gilburne.
Richard Burbadge. Robert Armin.
John Hemmings. William Ostler.
Augustine Phillips. Nathan Field.
William Kempt. John Vnderwood.
Thomas Poope. Nicholas Tooley.
George Bryan. William Ecclestone.
Henry Condell. Joseph Taylor.
William Slye. Robert Benfield.
Richard Cowly. Robert Goughe.
John Lowine. Richard Robinson.
Samuell Crosse. Iohn Shancke.

Alexander Cooke. Iohn Rice.
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in 1600,! running with mounting violence through the cynicism of
Hamlet and Troilus and Cressida, is interrupted by the sombre comedies
of All’s Well and Measure for Measure, and then bursts into the despair
and misanthropy of Othello, Timon, Lear, and Macbeth, the violent
passion ebbing in the great golden flood of Antony and Clespatra, and
the chilly Coriolanus with which the series closes in 1608.

Of Shakespeare’s inner life we know only the little that we think
we can discover in his works, which are symptoms of his spiritual
condition, not the cause; and there are no external events which we
can assign as a sufficient reason for the profound emotional upheaval
of these years. There was one event, however, of the time when he
began to write Hamlet, which may have powerfully affected him;
this was the rebellion and execution of Essex for treason in February
1601. Robert Devereux, Earl of Essex, was a favourite of Elizabeth,
but a vain and ambitious young man engaged in the intrigues as to
who should succeed the ageing Queen on her death. Opposed to him
was Cecil and his faction who trapped him into accepting the Lord-
Deputyship of Ireland with the unenviable task of putting down
Tyrone’s rebellion, and after some delay he made a spectacular
departure from London in March 1599 with Shakespeare’s patron,
Southampton, as his Master of Horse.

At this time Shakespeare was finishing Henry /, in the Chorus to
the last Act of which he compares Henry’s return to England from
France with the expected return of Essex from Ireland:

As, by a lower but loving likelihood,

Were now the general of our gracious empress,
As in good time he may, from Ireland coming,
Bringing rebellion broached on his sword,
How many would the peaceful city quit,

To welcome him!

Essex, however, did not bring home rebellion broached on his sword;
instead he made a disastrous truce with Tyrone, lost his nerve, and
fled to England, where on September 28th he burst into the Queen’s
room and threw himself upon her mercy. But Elizabeth did not
forgive him; he was a discredited and ruined man, and became thence-
forth the rallying point of other malcontents. The Council was
alarmed and demanded an explanation; this forced Essex’s hand, and
on February 8th, 1601, he led his small band of supporters, South-

! Fulius Casar may have been written in 1599 after Henry ¥, to which it has stylistic

resemblances, and before Much Ado, As You Like It, and Twelfth Night, or in 1600, after
these comedies and immediately before Hamlet, with which it has affinities of characterisation.
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ampton among them, into the City, hoping to raise the citizens and
train-bands; but few followed him, and he was forced to surrender.
Essex and Southampton were brought to trial on February 19th and
both were condemned to death. Essex was executed on February 25th;
Southampton was spared because ‘the poor young earl, merely for the
love of Essex, had been driven into this action’, but he was sentenced
to imprisonment for life.

The intensity of the effect of this disaster on Shakespeare would
depend on his relations with Southampton. Southampton was the
patron to whom he had dedicated his poems seven or eight years
before; he may have helped Shakespeare financially, and he may have
been the inspirer of the Sonnets; but there is no certain evidence to
show that there was any great intimacy between them. If their
relationship were merely the conventional one of patron and client,
Shakespeare might not be greatly moved, but if Southampton were
the Mr. W.H. of the Sonnets, Shakespeare must have watched his
friend’s perilous progress with something like despair. That he dis-
approved is certainy and both Hamlet and Trotlus and Cressida left no
doubt as to which side he was on:

There’s such divinity doth hedge a king,
"That treason can but peep to what it would,
Acts little of his will,

and,
Take but degree away, untune that string,
And, hark, what discord follows!

There was a curious incident on the day before the rising. Essex’s
supporters paid forty shillings to Shakespeare’s company for a per-
formance at the Globe of Richard II, and warmly applauded the
scene of Richard’s deposition. At the trial Augustine Phillips was
called upon to explain the circumstances of the revival:

The Examination of Augustyne Phillypps servant vnto the L, Cham-
berlayne and one of hys players taken the xviij® of Februarij 1600
vpon hys oth.

He sayeth that on Fryday last was sennyght or Thursday Sr Charles
Percy Sr Josclyne Percy and the L. Montegle with some thre more
spak to some of the players in the presans of thys examinate to have the
play of the desposyng and kyllyng of Kyng Rychard the second to be
played the Saterday next promysyng to gete them xls. more then their
ordynary to play yt. Wher thys Examinate and hys fellowes were deter-
myned to have played some other play, holdyng that play of Kyng
Richard to be so old & so long out of vse as that they shold have small
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or no Company at yt. But at their request this Examinate and his
fellowes were Content to play yt the Saterday and had their xls. more
then their ordynary for yt and so played yt accordyngly.

It is curious that no proceedings were taken against the company, and
on February 24th, the day before Essex’s execution, they even played
before Elizabeth at Whitehall.

The accession of James I in the spring of 1603 brought prefer-
ment and further prosperity to Shakespeare and his company, who
were licensed by royal letters patent ‘freely to vse and exercise the
Arte and faculty of playing’—that is, to act in any town or university,
a privilege that had previously been denied and one that they quickly
exercised, for the first Quarto of Hamlet, 1603, states that the play
‘hath beene diuerse times acted by his Highnesse seruants in the Cittie
of London: as also in the two Vniuersities of Cambridge and Oxford’.?
Henceforth they were to be known as the King’s Company, though
still under the immediate control of the Lord Chamberlain—from
1603 to 1614 Thomas Howard, Earl of Suffolk—and its members
ranked as Grooms of the Chamber. In 1604 they walked in scarlet
cloaks in the procession when the king made his formal entry into
London:

Red Clothe bought of sondrie persons and giuen by his Maiestie to
diuerse "persons against his Maiesties sayd royall proceeding through
the Citie of London, viz:—

Fawkeners &c. &c. Red cloth
William Shakespeare iiij yardes di.
Augustine Phillipps? ’
Lawrence Fletcher ’

John Hemminges
Richard Burbidge
William Slye
Robert Armyn
Henry Cundell
Richard Cowley

”»

In the winter of 1604-5 they performed eleven times at Court, and
most of the plays were by Shakespeare: Othello, Merry Wives, Measure

1 The plague, from which London had been free for ten years, broke out in the spring
of 1603 and lasted till that of 1604. The theatres were closed, and the King’s Men had to
travel.

? Augustine Phillips died in 1605 and left ‘amongste the hyred men of the Company which
Iam of . . . the some of fyfe pounds of lawfull money of England to be equally distributed
amongeste them, Item I geve and bequeathe to my Fellowe William Shakespeare a thirty
shillings peece in gould . . ..
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for Measure, Comedy of Errors, Love’s Labour’s Lost, Henry V, and
The Merchant of Venice (twice).

James’s accession also brought the release of Southampton from the
Tower, and it is possible that Sonnet 107 refers to the death of
Elizabeth, ‘the mortal moon’, to the peaceful accession of James in
‘this most balmy time’, and the release of Southampton, ‘forfeit to a
confined doom’. But the tone of the poem is at odds with that of the
plays of this period, and also with that of the period itself. The heroic
days of Elizabeth were over, and a conceited and cowardly king sat
on the throne surrounded by a drunken and profligate court. ‘I think
the Dane hath strangely wrought on our good English nobles’, wrote
Sir John Harrington, ‘for those, whom I could never get to taste
good liquor, now follow the fashion, and wallow in beastly delights.
The ladies abandon their sobriety, and are seen to roll about in
intoxication.” They were sombre and inglorious years, and no doubt
intensified Shakespeare’s tragic mood, but in themselves they are
insufficient to account for the plays: the real cause is not written in
the history of the times, but in the intimate history of Shakespeare’s
life.

His father, John Shakespeare, died in 1601 and was buried at
Stratford on September 8th: ‘a merry Cheekd old man that said, Will
was a good Honest Fellow but he durst have crackt a jeast with him
at any time’. There is no record of a will, but his sole remaining
property, the two houses in Henley St., passed to Shakespeare, though
his widow lived in one of them until her death in 1608.

Shakespeare was now the head of his family, and although his two
younger brothers, Gilbert and Richard, were living in Stratford, there
were also four women for whom he was responsible: his mother, his
wife, and his two daughters, Susanna and Judith. No doubt it was
largely owing to this responsibility that he began to take a greater
interest in the affairs of his native town and at the same time to loosen
his ties with London, for if, as seems probable, he abandoned his
acting about 1604 and concentrated on writing, he would be more the
master of his time and able to divide it much as he pleased between
London and Stratford.

In 1602, shortly after his father’s death, he bought from William
and John Combe for £320 a hundred and seven acres of arable land
and twenty acres of pasture and rights of common in the open fields
near Welcome just to the north of Stratford:

This Indenture made the firste daie of Maye, in the fowre and
fortieth yeare of the raigne of our Soueraigne Ladie Elizabeth..Be-
tweene William Combe of Warrwicke, in the countie of Warrwick,

4
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Esquier, and John Combe of Olde Stretford, in the countie aforesaide,
gentleman, on the one partie, And William Shakespere of Stretford
vppon Avon, in the countie aforesaide, gentleman, on thother partye,
Witnesseth that the saide William Combe and John Combe, for and in
consideracion of the somme of three hundred and twentie poundes of
currant Englishe money . . . have aliened, bargayned, solde, geven,
graunted and confirmed, and by theis presentes doe fullye, clearlie and
absolutelie alien, bargayne, sell, give, graunte and confirme vnto the
saide William Shakespeare, All and singular those errable landes, with
thappurtenaunces, conteyninge by estymacion fowre yarde lande of
errable lande, scytuate, lyinge and beinge within the parrishe, feildes or
towne of Olde Stretford aforesaide, in the said countie of Warrwick,
conteyninge by estimacion one hundred and seaven acres, be they more
or lesse, And also all the common of pasture for sheepe, horse, kyne or
other cattle in the feildes of Olde Stretford aforesaide, to the said fowre
yarde lande belonginge or in any wise apperteyninge, And also all hades,
leys, tyinges, proffittes, advantages and commodities whatsoeuer, with
their and euerie of their appurtenaunces, to the saide bargayned prem-
isses belonging or apperteyninge.

The deed was ‘Sealed and deliuered to Gilbert Shakespere, to the vse
of the within named William Shakespere’. The ‘hades, leys, tyinges’
may be the ‘viginti acris pasture’ mentioned with the ‘centum et
septum acris_terre’ in a supplementary conveyance of 1610, or the
twenty acres of pasture may have been a new purchase.

In the same year, on September 28th, Shakespeare bought from
Walter Getley a cottage opposite the garden of New Place in Chapel
Lane, otherwise called Dead Lane or Walker’s Street:

Ad hanc curiam venit Walterus Getley . . et sursumreddidit in manus
domine manerii predicti vnum cotagium cum pertinenciis scituatum
iacens et existens in Stratford super Avon, in quondam vico ibidem
vocato Walkers Streete alias Dead Lane, ad opus et vsum Willielmi
Shackespere . .

The cottage was within the Manor of Rowington, a Survey of which
states that in October 1604,

William Shakespere lykewise holdeth there one cottage and one
garden, by estimation a quarter of one acre, and payeth rent yeerlye
1j%, vis.

It was in Stratford that Shakespeare brought an action in 1604
against Philip Rogers, an apothecary, to whom he had lent 2s. and
supplied malt to the value of {1 19s. 10d. Rogers repaid 6s. and
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Shakespeare sued him for the balance of £1 15s. 104. Again in March
1609 the Stratford Court of Record issued a precept to arrest and
produce John Addenbrooke

ad satisfaciendum Willielmo Shackspere generoso, tam de sex libris
debiti quas predictus Willielmus in eadem curia versus eum recuperavit
quam de viginti et quatuor solidis qui ei adiudicati fuerent pro dampnis
et custagiis suis quos sustinuit occacione detencionis debiti predicti.

But Addenbrooke was not to be found: ‘Infranominatus Johannes
non est inventus infra libertatem hujus burgi’, and Shakespeare had
to proceed against his surety, Thomas Horneby, for the recovery of
his £6 and 24s. costs.

As early as 1598 Abraham Sturley had written to Richard Quiney
suggesting that as ‘our countriman, Mr Shaksper, is willinge to dis-
burse some monei vpon some od yardeland or other att Shottri or
neare about vs’ it might be ‘a verj fitt patterne to move him to deale
in the matter of our tithes’. Four years later Shakespeare bought
‘some od yardeland att Shottri or neare’, and in 1605 he paid £440
for the lease of a parcel of tithes in the hamlets of Old Stratford,
Welcombe, and Bishopton:

This indenture nowe witnesseth that the sayed Raphe Hubande, for
and in consideracion of the somme of foure hundred and fourtye
poundes of lawfull Englishe money to him by the sayed William Shake-
spear, . . . hathe demised, graunted, assigned and sett over . . . vnto the
sayed William Shakespear . . . the moytie or one half of all and singuler
the sayed tythes of corne, grayne, blade and heye, yearelye and from
tyme to tyme cominge . . . in the townes, villages, hamlettes, groundes
and fyeldes of Stratforde, Olde Stratforde, Welcombe, and Bushopton
.. . and alsoe the moytie or one half of all and singuler the sayed tythes
of wooll, lambe, and other smalle and pryvie tythes, herbage, oblacions,
obvencions, alterages, mynumentes and offeringes whatsoeuer, yearelye

and from tyme to tyme cominge . .. within the parishe of Stratforde
vpon Avon aforesayed.

In return for his profits from the tithes, which in 1611 were valued
at £60 a year, Shakespeare was to pay

vnto the baylyffe and burgesses of Stratford aforesaid, and their suc-
cessors, the yearelye rent of seaventeen poundes . . . and vnto the sayed
John Barker, his executours, administratours or assignes, the annual or
yearelye rente of fyve pounds.

This last clause led in 1611 to a complaint by Shakespeare and two
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other holders of the same parcel of tithes, Richard Lane and Thomas
Greene, that Mary, William, and John Combe, ‘or some or one of
them’, fellow tithe-owners, were not paying their share of the total
mean rent of £27 13s. 4d. due to Barker. As Barker had the right of
re-entry in default of the payment of this rent ‘in parte or in all’, this
meant that

Richard Lane and William Shackspeare, and some fewe others of the
said parties, are wholly, and against all equity and good conscience,
usually dryven to pay the same for preservacion of their estates.

William Combe replied that he did pay his £5 but was willing to pay
another 6s. 84. for other tithes, provided all the other parties paid
their share. Incidentally, John Combe, William’s uncle, was the ‘old
rich Usurer’ of Aubrey and others, upon whom Shakespeare was said
to have made the ‘extemporary Epitaph’: “Ten in the Hundred the
Devill allowes But Combes will have twelve’, etc. The story is almost
certainly apocryphal, for versions of this epitaph were common, and
when John Combe died in 1614 he left Shakespeare £5s.

There are a number of entries in the Register of Stratford parish
church which sketch the history of Shakespeare’s family during this
period:

1600, Aug. 28.
16or, Sept. 8.
1603, June. s.
1605, July. 24.
1607, June. s.
1607, Dec. 17.
1608, Feb. 2r1.
1608, Sept. 9.
1608, Sept. 23.

Wilhelmus filius Wilhelmi Hart.
Mr Johannes Shakspeare.
Maria filia Wilhelmi Hart.
Thomas fil. Wilhelmus Hart Hatter.
. John Hall gentleman & Susanna Shaxspere.
Mary dawghter to Willyam Hart.
Elizabeth dawghter to John Hall gentleman.
Mayry Shaxspere, wydowe.
Mychaell sonne to Willyam Hart.

OWOWZOOWO

And then in London, first in the Register of St. Giles’s, Cripplegate,
then in that of St. Saviour’s, Southwark, occur the entries:

1607, Aug. 12. B. Edward sonne of Edward Shackspeere, Player:
base-borne.
1607, Dec. 31. B. Edmond Shakespeare, a player: in the Church.

William Hart, of whom nothing is known save that he was a
hatter, married Shakespeare’s sister Joan, but there is no record of
their marriage. Joan was thirty-one in 1600 when her first child was
born. She was living in the ‘Birthplace’ in 1616, and her descendants
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by her third child Thomas occupied the house until 1806, when it
was sold and became a butcher’s shop.

In 1607 Shakespeare’s elder daughter Susanna was married to Dr
John Hall, and in the following year his only grandchild, Elizabeth,
was born. John Hall was a successful physician who lived in Old
Stratford and cured Mr Drayton, ‘an excellent poet’, of a fever by an
infusion of violets, and his wife who was ‘miserably tormented with
the collick’, and daughter who ‘was vexed with Tortura Oris’ by
what appear to have been more drastic methods. It seems probable
that he had puritanical leanings, though even ‘such as hated his
religion’ made use of his skill.

In the same year, a plague year in London, Shakespeare’s youngest
brother Edmund was buried 1n St. Saviour’s, Southwark, his funeral
‘with a forenoon knell of the great bell’ costing twenty shillings,
which Shakespeare may have paid. Edmund was only twenty-seven
when he died, a London actor but apparently not one of the King’s
Men, and the father of the illegitimate Edward who died shortly
before him. Shakespeare’s mother, Mary Arden, died in 1608, and
on September gth was buried in Stratford churchyard.

1609-1616

Shakespeare must have been a very tired man in 1608 after the
prolonged strain of the spiritual throes that produced the poetry and
characters of the tragedies, and it is possible, as Sir Edmund Chambers
suggests, that Timon and not Coriolanus is the last of the series, an
abortive birth indicative of a nervous breakdown. If so the celestial
music of the recognition scene in Pericles, which probably came next,
may be the equivalent of Beethoven’s A minor quartet, a thanksgiving
on his recovery from illness. It may be so, but we do not know.

Nor do we know exactly when Shakespeare left London for
Stratford. In 1599 he was living in Southwark in the Clink on the
Bankside, and Malone claimed that ‘he continued to reside in South-
wark to the year 1608’. Unfortunately the evidence was never
published, but there is 2 memorandum of September gth, 1609, by
Thomas Greene, Shakespeare’s ‘cousin’, fellow tithe-owner, and
town clerk of Stratford, in which he says, with reference to some
delay in the delivery of a house, ‘I was content to permytt it without
contradiccion & the rather because I perceyued I mighte staye another
yere at newe place’. We do not know how long Greene had been
living at New Place, but he certainly suggests that he expects to be

there until September 1610. He did in fact buy another house about
May 1611.
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The years 1605-1609 were plague years in London, and it is
reasonable to assume that Shakespeare, having worked out the tragic
themes, seen his company occupy the Blackfriars theatre in the
autumn of 1609, and having no acting ties to restrain him, would
be anxious to escape from the plague to his house in Stratford and the
companionship of his wife, daughters, and granddaughter. Possibly,
therefore, he left London for Stratford sometime in 1610 or 1611,
though we cannot be certain that he was there before May 1612,
when in his deposition in the Belott-Mountjoy suit he described him-
self as ‘of Stratford vpon Aven in the Countye of Warwicke gentleman’.

The plays that follow the tragedies, Pericles, Cymbeline, The
Winter’s Tale,and The Tempest, written between 1608 and 1611, are
all comedies, but very different from the sparkling comedies of the pre-
tragic period. They are romances of estrangement and reconciliation,
as though the comic spirit had been touched by the tragic, and trans-
muted by the contact. It may be that Shakespeare was simply supply-
ing the kind of play, the tragi-comedy, that was so popular at the
court of James I and Anne of Denmark, and that was fully exploited
by Beaumont and Fletcher. More probably it was the natural develop-
ment of Shakespeare’s genius which, after the tension and torment of
the tragedies of character, turned with relief to the fantasy and pure
poetry of romance.

Perhaps the inspiration came partly from Stratford and the sur-
rounding countryside to which he was drawing ever closer, and it is
not altogether fanciful to see in Marina, Imogen, Perdita, and
Miranda the influence of his daughters and granddaughter; but it is
possible to over-sentimentalise this final period and find only a ‘grave
serenity’, ‘a clear yet tender luminousness, not elsewhere to be found
in his writings’. "That there is this serenity, at least in The Tempest,
and luminousness, cannot be denied, but it is not as simple as that.
We tend to remember the restoration of Marina to Pericles, and the
pastoral scenes of Cymbeline and The Winter’s Tale, but to forget the
brothel at Mytilene, yellow Iachimo, and ‘the wretched fishing
jealousies of Leontes’. What are we to make of Posthumus’s speech?

Is there no way for men to be, but women
Must be half-workers? We are all bastards;

And that most venerable man which I

Did call my father, was I know not where
When I was stamped; some coiner with his tools
Made me a counterfeit;

and of those of Leontes?
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And many a man there is, even at this preseny,
Now, while I speak this, holds his wife by the arm,
And little thinks she has been sluiced in’s absence
And his pond fish’d by his next neighbour, by

Sir Smile, his neighbour.

This is the language of Othello and Lear and Timon, the violent
revulsion from sex which is almost the main theme of many of the
tragedies, and here, as in them, seems far to outstrip the dramatic
occasion. It is as though the tragic passion were not quite played out
but were carried over into the romances, and serenity achieved only
in the last play, The Tempest.

Shakespeare’s retirement to Stratford did not mean a complete
severance from London and the theatre. The Tempest, which he may
have written at New Place, was for the King’s Men, and he may have
collaborated with Fletcher in 1612-13 in the writing of Henry VII1
and The Two Noble Kinsmen, though it is possible that Fletcher
worked on material that Shakespeare left in London on his retirement
—at least it is difficult to believe that Shakespeare knew much about
Fletcher’s unwholesome contribution to the latter play.

That Shakespeare’s plays were popular is shown by the fact that
in 1612-13, during the festivities in celebration of the marriage of
James I'’s daughter Elizabeth to the Elector Palatine, John Heminge
produced seven of them at Court:

Item paid to John Heminges upon the Cowncells warrant dated att
Whitehall xx° die Maij 1613, for presentinge before the Princes High-
nes the Lady Elizabeth and the Prince Pallatyne Elector fowerteene
severall playes, viz: one playe called Filaster, One other called the Knott
of Fooles, One other Much Adoe abowte Nothinge, The Mayeds
Tragedy, The Merye Dyvell of Edmonton, The Tempest, A Kinge
and no Kinge, The Twins Tragedie, The Winters Tale, Sir John
Falstaffe, The Moore of Venice, The Nobleman, Cesars Tragedye,
And one other callee Love lyes a bleedinge, All which Playes weare
played with-in the tyme of this Accompte, viz: paid the some of iiij
xiij vj® viijd.

Item paid to the said John Heminges vppon the lyke warrant, dated
att Whitehall xx° die Maij 1613, for presentinge sixe severall playes,
viz: one playe called A badd beginininge makes a good endinge, One
other called the Capteyne, One other the Alcumist, One other Cardenno,
One other The Hotspur, And one other called Benedicte and Betteris,
All played within the tyme of this Accompte viz: paid Fortie powndes.
And by waye of his Majesties rewarde twentie powndes, In all Ix",

A few months later, on June 29th, the Globe theatre was burned
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to the ground ‘while Burbage’s company were acting the play of
Henry VIII'. The most famous account is that of Sir Henry Wotton
in a letter to Sir Edmund Bacon, quoted in full on p. 474:

Now, King Henry making a masque at the Cardinal Wolsey’s house,
and certain chambers being shot off at his entry, some of the paper, or
other stuff, wherewith one of them was stopped, did light on the thatch,
where being thought at first but an idle smoke, and their eyes more
attentive to the show, it kindled inwardly, and ran round like a train,
consuming within less than an hour the whole house to the very grounds.

The theatre was rebuilt in 1614 ‘in far finer manner than before’,
and it is this Jacobean Globe depicted in Visscher’s view of 1616 that
has come to be accepted as the typical Elizabethan public theatre.

Shakespeare sometimes left Stratford for a visit to London, and it
was there on May 11th, 1612, that he made his deposition in the
Belott v. Mountjoy lawsuit. Stephen Belott had been the apprentice
of the tire-maker Christopher Mountjoy who lived in Silver St. just
to the north of St. Paul’s. In 1604 he married his master’s daughter
Mary, and in 1612 brought a suit accusing Mountjoy of failing to
provide his daughter with a promised dowry of £60 and a further {200
in his will. Joan Johnson, a maidservant of Mountjoy, deposed that
Shakespeare, at Mountjoy’s request, had helped to persuade Belott to
marry Mary Mountjoy:

And as she remembereth the defendant did send and perswade one Mr
Shakespeare that lay in the house to perswade the plaintiff to the same
marriadge.

Another deponent, Daniell Nicholas, stated that Belott asked him to
go with his wife to Shakespeare

to vnderstande the truthe howe muche and what the defendant did
promise to bestowe on his daughter in marriadge with him the plaintiff,
who did soe. And askinge Shakespeare thereof, he answered that he
promissed yf the plaintiff would marrye with Marye his the defendantes
onlye daughter, he the defendant would by his promise as he remembered
geue the plaintiff with her in marriadge about the some of ffyftye
poundes in money and certayne houshold stuffe.

Shakespeare admitted his part in the persuasion, but could not
remember what Mountjoy had promised to settle on Mary.

William Shakespeare of Stratford vpon Aven in the Countye of War-
wicke gentleman of the age of xlviij yeres or thereaboutes sworne and
examined the daye and yere abouesaid deposeth & sayethe
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To the first interrogatory this deponent sayethe he knowethe the
partyes plaintiff and deffendant and hathe knowne them bothe as he now
remembrethe for the space of tenne yeres or thereaboutes . . .

To the third interrogatory this deponent sayethe ... that the said
deffendantes wyeffe did sollicitt and entreat this deponent to move and
perswade the said complainant to effect the said marriadge, and accord-
ingly this deponent did moue and perswade the complainant thervnto:
And more to this interrogatorye he cannott depose.

To the ffourth interrogatory this deponent sayth that the defendant
promissed to geue the said complainant a porcion in marriadg with
Marye his daughter, but what certain porcion he rememberethe not,
nor when to be payed, nor knoweth that the defendant promissed the

plaintiff twoe hundered poundes with his daughter Marye at the tyme
of his decease . . .

To the v interrogatory this deponent sayth he can saye nothing
touchinge any parte or poynte of the same interrogatory, for he knoweth
not what implementes and necessaries of houshold stuffe the defendant
gaue the plaintiff in marriadge with his daughter Marye.

Willm Shaksp

From this it appears that Shakespeare had lodged with Mountjoy
some time between 1602 when he first met him and November 1604
when Belott married Mary. His evidence was not very helpful, but
there seems no good reason why he should have remembered the details
of an arrangement made some eight years before. Or it may be that
he did not wish to be involved in the affairs of the Mountjoy family,
who were described ‘tous 2 pere & gendre desbauchéz’; or, again, it
is possible that his memory really was beginning to fail him.

Shakespeare had always been interested in heraldry, and it was in
London, presumably, that he helped Burbage, who was an amateur
painter, to devise an ‘impresa’ for the Earl of Rutland to bear on his
shield in the tournament at Whitchall on the anniversary of the
King’s accession on March 24th, 1613. An impresa was a heraldic
device of Italian origin combining allegorical pictures and mottoes,
and used to adorn not only shields but sometimes also furniture and
plate. According to the account book of Rutland’s steward, Shake-
speare received 44s. for his design, and Burbage the same sum for
painting it:

Item, 31 Martii, to Mr Shakspeare in gold about my Lorde’s im-
preso, xliiij% to Richard Burbage for paynting and making yt, in gold
xliiij®.

It was during this visit to London that, on March 1oth, 1613,
Shakespeare invested £140 in the purchase of a building that had once
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been the gate-house to the lodging of the Prior of Blackfriars, situated
between St. Paul’s and the present Blackfriars Bridge:

This Indenture made the tenthe day of Marche (1613) . . . Between
Henry Walker citizein and Minstrell of London of th’one partie; And
William Shakespeare of Stratford Vpon Avon in the countie of Warwick
gentleman, William Johnson, citizein and Vintener of London, John
Jackson and John Hemmyng of London gentlemen, of th’other partie;
Witnesseth that the said Henry Walker (for and in consideracion of the
somme of one hundred and fortie poundes of lawfull money of England
to him in hande before th’ensealing hereof by the said William Shake-
speare well & trulie paid . ..) hath bargayned and soulde and by theis
presentes doth fullie, cleerlie, and absolutlie bargayne and sell vnto the
said William Shakespeare, William Johnson, John Jackson, and John
Hemming, their heirs and assignes forever; All that dwelling house or
Tenement with th’appurtenaunces situate and being within the Pre-
cinct, circuit and compasse of the late black Fryers London . .. abut-
ting vpon a streete leading down to Pudle wharffe on the east part, right
against the Kinges Maiesties Wardrobe; part of which said Tenement
is erected over a great gate leading to a capitall Mesuage . .; And also
all that plott of ground on the west side of the same Tenement which
was lately inclosed with boordes on two sides thereof by Anne Bacon
widowe, soe farre and in such sorte as the same was inclosed by the said
Anne Bacon, and not otherwise, and being on the thirde side inclosed
with an-olde Brick wall; .. and also the soyle wherevppon the said
Tenement standeth; And also the said Brick wall and boordes which do
inclose the said plott of ground ... In witnesse whereof the said
parties to theis Indentures interchaungablie have sett their seales.
Yeoven the day and yeares first above written.

William Shaksp& Wm Johnsonn Jo: Jacksonn.

The next day, March 11th, Shakespeare mortgaged the house
temporarily to the former owner for £60, apparently as security
against the payment of the balance of the purchase money:

This Indenture made the eleaventh day of March . .: Witnesseth
that the said William Shakespeare, William Johnson, John Jackson and
John Hemmyng, have dimised, graunted and to ferme letten . . . vnto
the said Henry Walker, All that dwelling house or Tenement, with
th’appurtenaunces, situate and being within the precinct, circuit and
compasse of the late Black Fryers, London ... Yeelding and paying
therefore . . . a pepper corne at the feast of Easter yearlie, if the same
bee lawfullie demaunded, and noe more. Prouided alwayes that if the
said William Shakespeare, his heires, executours, administratours or
assignes, or any of them, doe well and trulie paie or cause to bee paid to
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the said Henry Walker . . . the some of threescore poundes of lawfull
money of England in and vpon the nyne and twentith day of September
next. . . That then and from thensforth this presente lease shall cease .
Wm Shaksp, Wm Johnson, Jo: Jackson.

As it was Shakespeare who paid the money for the house it is clear
that Johnson, Jackson, and Heminge were acting merely as trustees;
but the effect of this form of conveyance was, whether deliberately or
not, to deprive his wife of her legal dower of a life interest in the
property. Shakespeare signed both the deed of conveyance and of
mortgage, and these two signatures, the three of his will, and that of
his deposition in the Belott-Mountjoy suit form the only handwriting
that we can be certain is his, though on them rests the greater part of
the case in favour of his having written three pages of the manuscript
play Sir Thomas More.

Shakespeare was in London again in November 1614, apparently
with his son-in-law John Hall, for Thomas Greene who was already
there made a note of his arrival and of the ensuing interview:

Jovis 17 No. At my Cosen Shakspeare commyng yesterday to towne
I went to sec him howe he did he told me that they assured him they
ment to inclose no further then to gospell bushe & so vpp straight
(leaving out part of the dyngles to the ffield) to the gate in Clopton
hedge & take in Salisburyes peece: and that they meane in Aprill to
servey the Land & then to gyve satisfaccion & not before & he & Mr
Hall say they think there will be nothyng done at all.

This is the Thomas Greene who was the town clerk of Stratford and
living at New Place in 1609, though what his relationship was to
Shakespeare that he should call him ‘cosen’ is not at all clear. The
reason for his presence in London is clear cnough, however. In the
autumn of that year, 1614, two owners of land in the neighbourhood
of Stratford, Arthur Mainwaring and William Replingham, set on
foot proceedings for the enclosure of certain fields in Old Stratford
and Welcombe. The Stratford Corporation, as the owners of tithes
that were likely to fall in value if arable land were put down to grass,
sent Greene to London to dissuade the promoters and to petition the
Privy Council. He was at Stratford again in December, for on the
10th he wrote that the survey had already been made and that he had
tried to find Replingham ‘at the beare & at new place but myssed him
& . .. he was not to be spoken with’. On the 23rd the town council
appealed to Mainwaring and Shakespeare, and Greene notes:

Lettres wrytten one to Mr Manneryng another to Mr Shakspeare
with almost all the companyes hands to eyther: I alsoe wrytte of myself
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to my Cosen Shakespeare the Coppyes of all our oathes made then
alsoe a not of the Inconvenyences wold grow by the Inclosure.

At about this time William Combe, who held land in Welcombe,
joined the promoters of the scheme and in January set his men to
begin the enclosure by digging a ditch, but was stopped by an order of
the Warwick Assizes after some interference by the Stratford Cor-
poration and the local inhabitants. Combe made further proposals but
the Corporation continued its opposition and the enclosure was
successfully stayed.

It is difficult to say what was Shakespeare’s attitude to the proposed
enclosure. None of his estate in Old Stratford would have been
affected, but like the Corporation he might have suffered loss by a fall
in the value of his tithes. Against this, however, he had secured him-
self by an agreement with Replingham on October 28th:

The said William Replingham . . . doth covenaunte . . . with the said
William Shackespeare . . . That he . . . shall, uppon reasonable request,
satisfie, content and make recompence unto him . .. for all such losse,
detriment and hinderance as he, the said William Shackespeare, his
heires and assignes, and one Thomas Greene, gent., shall or maye be
thought, in the viewe and judgement of foure indifferent persons . . . to
sustayne. or incurre for or in respecte or the decreasing of the yearlie
value of the tythes they . . . doe joyntlie or seuerallie hold and enioy in
the said fieldes . . . by reason of anie inclosure or decaye of tyllage there
ment and intended by the said William Replingham.

Shakespeare could therefore view the affair disinterestedly. Enclosure
of the open fields for arable purposes would mean better agriculture,
but if, as was most probable, arable were converted into pasture it
would mean unemployment and depopulation, and if common and
waste were also enclosed it would mean further distress owing to the
loss of grazing and other rights. The proposal was unpopular and no
doubt inspired by selfish motives, but whether Shakespeare supported
the conservative Corporation and the people or the enterprising Combe,
who maintained that it would not harm the town, and indeed in 1616
offered compensation for loss, it is difficult to say. But the Council’s
letters to Mainwaring and Shakespeare suggest that either he remained
neutral in the matter or supported enclosure, though we cannot say
for certain, as his correspondence with the Council has been lost.
Wherever his sympathies lay there is no reason to think that he
took a more active part in the enclosure controversy than he did in
the affairs of the town. He was undoubtedly one of the leading bur-
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gesses of Stratford, and might, had he so wished, have been one of the
leading members of the Corporation, but unlike his father he seems
to have had no taste for local politics, and the few records that we have
of his doings are of an unofficial though public-spirited nature. In
September 1611 he was one of seventy-two contributors ‘towardes the
charge of prosecutyng the Bill in parliament for the better Repayre of
the highe waies and amendinge diuers defectes in the Statutes alredy
made’, and in 1614 he entertained on behalf of the Corporation a
visiting preacher with ‘one quart of sack and one quart of clarrett
winne at the newe place’.

His youngest brother Edmund had died in London in 1607, and
soon after his retirement his two other brothers died in Stratford:

1612, Feb. 3. B. Gilbert Shakspere, adolescens.
1613, Feb. 4. B. Rich: Shakspeare.

Gilbert was forty-five and Richard thirty-eight, and both appear to
have been unmarried. Of Richard nothing more is known; Gilbert
acted as agent for the poet when he bought the land from the Combes
in 1602. The description ‘adolescens’ is a little puzzling, and it used
to be thought that it was a reference to a son of Gilbert, and that
Gilbert senior was the ‘younger brother’ described by Oldys ‘who
lived to a good old age’ and went to see his ‘brother Will’ act in
London. On the other hand, Capell in his version of the tradition is
less precise and refers to the visitor from Stratford merely as a man
‘related to Shakespeare’, and as there are no records of Gilbert’s
marriage or of the baptism of a son, and as he is not mentioned in
Shakespeare’s will, it seems certain that ‘Gilbert Shakspere, adolescens’
was the poet’s bachelor brother. On April 17th, 1616, a week before
his own death, his brother-in-law ‘Will. Hartt, hatter’, the husband of
his only surviving sister Joan, was buried at Stratford.

His daughters must have caused Shakespeare some anxiety at this
time. In 1613 Susanna, a married woman of thirty, was accused by a
certain John Lane of Stratford of having ‘bin naught with Rafe
Smith’, a local hatter. In July she brought an action for slander against
Lane, who failed to appear before the court at Worcester and was
excommunicated. Then in 1616, just about the time of his death, his
other daughter Judith was herself excommunicated. The Stratford
register records the marriage on February 1oth of “Tho Queeny tow
Judith Shakspere’. As this took place within the prohibited period
before Easter they should have obtained a special licence, but ap-
parently they failed to do so, and were summoned before the ecclesias-
tical court at Worcester and excommunicated. Thomas Quiney was
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the son of Richard Quiney, Shakespeare’s friend and ‘loveinge
countreyman’, and a Stratford wine merchant living at The Cage, a
house in Bridge St.

In January 1616 Shakespeare prepared the first draft of his will,
which was considerably revised and signed by him on March 25th,
apparently in some haste, for no fair copy was made.

In the name of god Amen I William Shackspeare of Stratford vpon
Avon in the countie of Warr gent in perfect health & memorie god be
praysed doe make & Ordayne this my last will & testament in manner
& forme followeing. That is to saye flirst I Comend my Soule into the
handes of god my Creator, hoping & assuredlie beleeving through
thonelie merittes of Jesus Christe my Saviour to be made partaker of
lyfe everlastinge, And my bodye to the Earth whereof yt ys made.

Item I Gyve & bequeath vnto my daughter Judyth One Hundred
and ffyftie poundes ... One Hundred Poundes in discharge of her
marriage porcion ... & ffyftie poundes Residewe thereof vpon her
Surrendring of . .. All her estate & Right . .. in or to one Copiehold
tenemente . . . being parcell or holden of the mannour of Rowington,
vnto my daughter Susanna Hall . . .

Item I Gyve and bequeath vnto my saied daughter Judith One
Hundred & ffyftie Poundes more if shee or Anie issue of her bodie be
Lyvinge att thend of three Yeares . .. And if she dye within the saied
terme without issue of her bodye then my will ys & I doe gyve and
bequeath One Hundred Poundes thereof to my Neece Elizabeth Hall
& the fliftie Poundes to be sett fourth by my executours during the lief
of my Sister Johane Harte & the vse & profitt thereof Cominge shalbe
payed to my saied Sister Jone, & after her deceas the saied I' shall
Remaine Amongst the children of my saied Sister Equallie to be devided
Amongst them. But if my saied daughter Judith be lyving att thend of
the saied three Yeares or anie yssue of her bodye, then my will ys &s oe
I devise & bequeath the saied Hundred and ffyftie poundes to be sett
out by my executours & overseers for the best benefitt of her & her issue
& the stock not to be paied vnto her soe long as she shalbe marryed &
covert Baron, but my will ys that she shall have the consideracion
yearelie paied vnto her during her lief & after her deceas the saied stock
and consideracion to bee paied to her children if she have Anie & if not
to her executours or assignes she lyving the saied terme after my deceas.
Provided that yf such husbond as she shall at thend of the saied three
Yeares be marryed vnto or attaine after doe sufficientlie Assure vnto her
& thissue of her bodie landes Awnswerable to the porcion by this my
will gyven vnto her & to be adiudged soe by my executours & overseers
then my will ys that the said c]" shalbe paied to such husbond as shall
make such assurance to his owne vse.

Item I gyve & bequeath vnto ny saied sister Jone xx" & all my wearing
Apparrell. . . . And I doe will & devise vato her the house with thap-
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purtenaunces in Stratford wherein she dwelleth for her naturall lief
vnder the yearelie Rent of xijd.

Item I gyve and bequeath Vnto her three sonns Welliam Harte
[Thomas] Hart & Michaell Harte ffyve poundes A peece. . . .

Item I gyve & bequeath vnto the saied Elizabeth Hall All my Plate
(except my brod silver & gilt bole) . . .

Item I gyve & bequeath vnto the Poore of Stratford aforesaid tenn
poundes, to mr Thomas Combe! my Sword, to Thomas Russell Esquier?
fiyve poundes, & to ffrauncis Collins® of the Borough of Warr . . . gent
thirteene poundes Sixe shillinges & Eight pence . . .

Item I gyve and bequeath to Hamlett Sadler* xxvj* viij¢ to buy him
A Ringe, to my godson William Walker® xx* in gold, to Anthonye
Nashe® gent xxvj® viij%, & to Mr John Nashe” xxvj* viij%, & to my
flelowes John Hemynge Richard Burbage & Henry Cundell xxvj* viij¢
A peece to buy them Ringes.

Item I Gyve Will bequeath & Devise vnto my daughter Susanna
Hall. . . All that Capitall Messuage or tenemente with thappurtenaunces
in Stratford aforesaid Called the newe place wherein I nowe dwell &
twoe messuages or tenementes with thappurtenaunces scituat lyeing &
being in Henley streete within the borough of Stratford aforesaied, And
all my barnes stables Orchardes gardens landes tenementes & heredita-
mentes whatsoever ... within ... Stratford vpon Avon Oldstratford
Bushopton & Welcombe . . . And alsoe All that Messuage . . . wherein
one John Robinson dwelleth scituat ... in the blackfriers in London
nere the Wardrobe, & all other my landes tenementes and heredita-
mentes whatsoever; To Have & to hold All & singuler the saied premisses
with their Appurtennaunces vnto the saied Susanna Hall for & during the
terme of her naturall lief, & after her Deceas to the first sonne of her
bodie lawfullie-yssueing & to the heires Males of the bodie of the saied
first Sonne lawfullie yssueing, & for defalt of such issue to the second

Sonne . .. and to the heires Males . .. & for defalt of such heires to
the third Sonne ... and the heires Males ... And for defalt of such
issue . .. to the flourth ffyfth sixte & Seaventh sonnes & to the heires

Males . . . and for defalt of such issue the said premisses to be & Remaine
to my sayed Neece Hall & the heires males of her bodie Lawfullie
yssueing, and for defalt of issue to my daughter Judith & the heires
Males of her bodie lawfullie yssueing, And for defalt of such issue to
the Right heires of me the saied William Shackspere for ever.

! Thomas Combe: son of Thomas, nephew of John, the ‘John o’ Combe’ of the ‘cxtem-
porary epitaph’, and younger brother of Wilham, the encloser.

? 'Thomas Russell: possibly a local landowner.

3 Francis Collins: the Warwick solicitor who probably drafted the will.

¢ Hamlett (or Hamnet) Sadler: with his wife Judith, probably godparents of Shakespeare's
twin children.

¢ William Walker: probably the son of Henry Walker, a Stratford mercer and alderman.

%7 Anthony and John Nash: father and uncle of Thomas Nash, the first husband of
Shakespeare’s granddaughter, Elizabeth Hall.
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Item I gyve vnto my wief my second best bed with the futniture.

Item I gyve & bequeath to my saied daughter Judith my broad
silver gilt bole.

All the Rest of my goodes chattels Leases plate Jewels & householde
stuffe whatsoever, after my dettes and Legasies paied & my funerall
expences discharged, I gyve devise & bequeath to my Sonne in Lawe
John Hall gent & my daughter Susanna his wief whom I ordaine &
make executours of this my Last will and testament. And I doe intreat
& Appoint the saied Thomas Russell Esquier & ffrauncis Collins to be
overseers hereof . . . In witnesse whereof I have hereunto put my hand
the daie & Yeare first aboue Written.

By me William Shakspeare.

Between the drafting of the will and its signing Judith had married
Thomas Quiney, possibly also been excommunicated, and it may be
significant that most of the alterations concern her portion, which is so
carefully secured as to suggest that Shakespeare was uncertain about
his new son-in-law. No doubt all his ‘wearing Apparrell’, which he
left to his sister Joan, was really intended for her husband William
Hart who was, except for his cousin John Lambert, the only surviving
near relation old enough to wear it, but he died between the signing of
the will and Shakespeare’s death. His wife Anne would receive her
widow’s dower of a third share for life in freehold estate, and possibly
a similar share in personal property; the ‘second-best bed’ would have
a high sentimental value.

According to the inscription in his monument in Stratford church
Shakespeare died on April 23rd, 1616, in his fifty-third year. Richard
Davies, rector of Sapperton at the end of the seventeenth century,
laconically recorded that ‘he dyed a papist’. It may be so, we cannot
say, but there is nothing in his plays to suggest that he was a papist
when he wrote them. He was buried near the north wall of the
chancel in Stratford church, almost underneath his monument, on

Thursday, April 25th, eight days after his brother-in-law:

1616, Apr. 17. B. Will. Hartt, hatter.
1616, Apr. 25. B. Will. Shakspere, gent.

Seventy-eight years later one William Hall, a young Oxford
graduate, wrote to a friend:

Dear Neppy,

I very greedily embraced this occasion of acquainting you with
something which I found at Stratford upon Avon. That place I came

! There are three sheets to the will, the first of which is signed ‘William Shakspere’ and the
second ‘Willfi Shakspere’.
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unto on Thursday night, and ye next day went to visit ye ashes of the
Great Shakespear which lye interr’d in that Church. The verses which
in his life-time he ordered to be cut upon his tomb-stone (for his Monu-
ment have others) are those which follow;

Reader, for Jesus’s Sake forbear

To dig the dust enclosed here:

Blessed be he that Spares these Stones,
And cursed be he that moves my bones.!

The little learning these verses contain, would be a very strong argument
for ye want of it in the Author; did not they carry something in them
which stands in need of a comment. There is in this Church a place
which they call the bone-house,a repository for all bonesthey dig up; which
are so many that they would load a great number of waggons. The Poet
being willing to preserve his bones unmoved, lays a curse upon him that
moves them; and haveing to do with Clarks and Sextons, for ye most
part a very ignorant sort of people, he descends to ye meanest of their
capacitys; and disrobes himself of that art, which none of his Co-tem-
poraryes wore in greater perfection. Nor has the design mist of its
effect; for lest they should not onely draw this curse upon themselvs,
but also entail it upon their posterity, they have laid him full seventeen
foot deep, deep enough to secure him. And so much for Stratford.

We know little more of Shakespeare’s last years than we know of

the first; indeed, the last years are the most mysterious of all. From
Chettle’s ‘Apology’ we can form some idea of the upstart crow of
twenty-eight:

my selfe haue seene his demeanor no lesse ciuill than he exelent in the
qualitie he professes: Besides, diuers of worship haue reported his up-
rightnes of dealing, which argues his honesty, and his facetious grace in
writting, that aprooues his Art.

And subsequent contemporary allusions, though many of them are
literary rather than personal, all go to confirm the same attractive
portrait. For Meres he was ‘mellifluous and hony-tongued Shake-
speare’, for Barnfield and Weever again ‘hony-flowing’ and ‘honie-
tong’d’y the anonymous author of Parnassus calls him ‘sweete Mr.

1 That Shakespeare wrote these verses was first claimed by Dowdall in 1693 after being
shown the church by ‘a clarke aboue 80 yrs old’ (¢f. p. 17). Hall misquotes; the verses on
the stone read:

Good frend for Iesus sake forbeare,
To digg the dvst encloased heare!
Bleste be ye man yt spares thes stones,
Aad cvrst be he yt moves my bones.
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Shakspeare . . . a shtewd fellow indeed’, Anthony Scoloker ‘friendly
Shakespeare’y Webster talks of his ‘right happy and copious industry’,
and Thomas Heywood again of ‘mellifluous Shake-speare’. But the
most important testimony comes from his intimate friends, his fellow-
actors Heminge and Condell, and his fellow-dramatist Jonson. In
their Prefaces to the First Folio Heminge and Condell wrote that they
had collected the plays

without ambition either of selfe-profit, or fame: onely to keepe the
memory of so worthy a Friend, and Fellow aliue, as was our Shake-
speare . . . Who, as he was a happie imitator of Nature, was a most
gentle expresser of it . . . And so we leaue you to other of his Friends.

One of these is Jonson, for whom he is ‘gentle Shakespeare . . . sweet
Swan of Auon’, and ‘my beloued the author’; and some years later he
confessed:

I lov’d the man, and doe honour his memory, on this side Idolatry, as
much as any. Hee was indeed honest, and of an open, and free nature:
had an excellent Phantsie; brave notions, and gentle expressions.

It is true that the only contemporary anecdote about Shakespeare,
that recorded by John Manningham, does more credit to his wit than
to his conjugal fidelity:

13 March 1601 (O.8.) Vpon a tyme when Burbidge played Rich. 3.
there was a citizen greue soe farr in liking with him, that before shee
went from the play shee appointed him to come that night vnto hir by
the name of Ri: the 3. Shakespeare overhearing their conclusion went
before, was intertained, and at his game ere Burbidge came. Then
message being brought that Rich. the 3. was at the dore, Shakespeare
caused returne to be made that William the Conquerour was before
Rich. the 3. Shakespeare’s name was William.

On the other hand, Aubrey records the tradition ‘the more to be ad-
mired, he was not a company keeper, lived in Shoreditch, wouldnt be
debauched, & if invited to writ he was in paine’.

Rowe, in 1709, was the first to attempt a sketch of his character:

Besides the advantages of his Wit, he was in himself a good-natur’d
Man, of great sweetness in his Manners, and a most agreeable Com-
panion ... His exceeding Candour and good Nature must certainly
have inclin’d all the gentler Part of the World to love him, as the power
of his Wit oblig’d the Men of the most delicate Knowledge and polite
Learning to admire him ... His pleasurable Wit, and good Nature,
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engag’d him in the Acquaintance, and entitled him to the Friendship of
the Gentlemen of the Neighbourhood.

The only reference to Shakespeare’s appearance is that of Aubrey,
about 1681, from the testimony of William Beeston, the actor and
son of Christopher Beeston: ‘He was a handsome well-shap’t man:
very good company, and of a very readie and pleasant smooth Witt’.

All this agrees with the fascinating reconstruction of Shakespeare’s
character and appearance made by Dr. Caroline Spurgeon from her
analysis of the poet’s unconscious self-revelation in his imagery. She
finds him well-built, athletic, and healthy, quiet, with abnormally
acute senses, particularly of hearing and taste. He was essentially a
countryman, fond of animals, sport, and gardening, with a particular
passion for horses and a game of bowls, clever with his hands and a
good carpenter. ‘For the rest of him, the inner man, five words sum
up the essence of his quality and character as seen in his images—
sensitiveness, balance, courage, humour and wholesomeness.’

The portraits of Shakespeare are not very helpful. There are two
which we must accept as authentic representations, though not neces-
sarily as good likenesses: the bust in the monument, and the engraving
in the Folios. The bust was carved—in Cotswold stone by Gerard
Janssen—before 1623, for the monument is mentioned by Digges in
his verses in the First Folio, and must have been approved by Shake-
speare’s widow and by Dr. Hall, who is said to have commissioned it.
The lack of detail in the carving was made good by colour, butin 1793
Malone covered it with a coat of paint. In 1861 the present colours
were put on. The fleshy face, goggling eyes, and perhaps over-healthy
glow are scarcely suggestive of the author of The Tempest.

The frontispiece of the First Folio, and of the three later Folios, is
a copper engraving by Martin Droeshout, who was only fifteen when
Shakespeare died. Presumably, therefore, it was engraved by the
inexperienced—and doubtless inexpensive—young artist shortly before
1623 from an original portrait, which there is reason to believe was
simply a line drawing of the head depicting Shakespeare as a youngish
man. It exists in two states, of the first of which or ‘proof’ discovered
by Halliwell-Phillipps there are only four copies, but though the first
state is better than the last, of neither can it be said that the bulging
forehead, stupid nose, and heavy jowl help us to visualise the poet.

There are a number of paintings which have been claimed as
originals of the Droeshout engraving, of which the ‘Flower Portrait™
at Stratford is the best known, or as authentic likenesses, such as the

1 The Flower Portrait was almost certainly painted from the engraving.
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Chandos Portrait attributed to Richard Burbage, but the Janssen bust
and the Droeshout engraving remain the only two portraits which we
can be certain are attempted representations, however unsuccessful.

Contemporary allusions are tantalisingly few; the re-creation of
the man Shakespeare from the airy records of his imagination, from
the expression of his unconscious mind, is inevitably an uncertain
process; the portraits give little clue to his physical and none to his
spiritual qualities, so we turn to his works and the conscious expression
of his thought, for, said Rowe, “The Character of the man is best seen
in his Writings’. But is it? Of almost any other writer this would be
true: of Chaucer, Milton, and Wordsworth for example, to mention
three of the greatest names in our literature; or to take three of our
greatest dramatists, it is true of Marlowe, Jonson, and Shaw. But
Shakespeare is so impersonal, his identification of himself with his
characters so complete—and this, of course, is one of the chief sources
of his greatness as a dramatist—that we can never or rarely be sure
that he is speaking non-dramatically, in his own person. That he had
an almost divine understanding of and sympathy for man is certain;
that he believed in the necessity of a stable and ordered political
system, and that for a time the sexual aspect of life filled him with
horror and loathing, we can be tolerably certain, but we can be sure of
little else.

Nevertheless, when we are reading his works we are sometimes
conscious of more than a shadowy figure at our elbow; when we are
reading the Sonnets, perhaps, certainly when we are reading Hamlet or
The Tempest, we are conscious of a presence more real than that of
living man, Here is the young man of twenty-seven:

Alas, ’tis true I have gone here and there,

And made myself a motley to the view,

Gored mine own thoughts, sold cheap what is most dear,
Made old offences of affections new;

Most true it is that I have looked on truth

Askance and strangely: but, by all above,

These blenches gave my heart another youth,

And worse essays proved thee my best of love.

Here the man of thirty-seven:

Speak the speech, I pray you, as I pronounced it to you, trippingly
on the tongue: but if you mouth it, as many of your players do, I had
as lief the town-crier spoke my lines. Nor do not saw the air too much
with your hand, thus; but use all gently; for in the very torrent, tempest,
and, as I may say, whirlwind of your passion, you must acquire and beget
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a temperance that may give it smoothness. O, it offends me to the soul
to hear a robustious periwig-pated fellow tear a passion to tatters, to
very rags, to split the ears of the groundlings, who, for the most part,
are capable of nothing but inexplicable dumb-shows and noise: I would
have such a fellow whipped for o’erdoing Termagant; it out-herods
Herod: pray you, avoid it.

And here the man of forty-seven:

But this rough magic
I here abjure; and, when I have requir’d
Some heavenly music,—which even now I do,—
To work mine end upon their senses that
"T'his airy charm is for, I’ll break my staff,
Bury it certain fathoms in the earth,
And deeper than did ever plummet sound
I'll drown my book.

But Shakespeare lived another five years after writing The Tempest,
time enough for another five plays, and all that remain are his parts in
Henry VIII and The Two Noble Kinsmen, if he really did write them
after The Tempest. What, then, are we to make of the last years, the
years of silence? We catch glimpses of an insubstantial figure buying a
house in Blackfriars, acting as god-father to William Walker, attend-
ing marriages and funerals, making his will, and that is all. Why did
the most creative of all men at the age of forty-seven lay down his pen
and say ‘I have done; I will write no more’? How could he? We can-
not treat seriously Rowe’s cosy suggestion ‘that the latter part of his
life was spent, as all men of good sense will wish theirs to be, in ease,
retirement, and the conversation of his friends’. It is inconceivable
that Shakespeare, first-rate business-man though he was, wrote with
his eye on the main chance:

For gain not glory winged his roving flight,
And grew immortal in his own despite,

that ‘his literary attainments and successes were chiefly valued as
serving the prosaic end of providing permanently for himself and his
daughters, his highest ambition to restore among his fellow-townsmen
the family repute which his father’s misfortunes had imperilled’; that
he made his pile, and then like any stockbroker retired to play the
seventeenth-century equivalents of golf and bridge.

We think of Keats’s fear of death before his pen had gleaned his
teeming brain, of the blind Milton dictating Paradise Lost for which



%o SHAKESPRARE AND HI$ CRITICS

he received ten pounds, of the deaf Beethoven composing his celestial
last quartets and full of projects for a tenth symphony, of the crippled
Michelangelo dying in his ninetieth year in the middle of vast schemes
and responsibilities, of the aged Renoir painting up to the last with his
brush strapped into position between his contorted finger and thumb,
of Virgil, Dante, Bach, Goethe, Cézanne, and the other great creative
spirits of the world, and there seems to be no parallel. Perhaps he did
write something and it has been lost? Perhaps he turned again to his
first love, to the pure poetry of the Sonnets and lyrics—and there are
indications in the later plays that he might well have done so—and
perhaps his puritanical son-in-law destroyed his work? Or perhaps in
1612 he was a very sick man? Who knows? But the man who wrote
the Sonnets, Romeo and Fuliet, Henry 1V, Twelfth Night, Hamlet,
King Lear, and The Tempest, though he might cease writing for the
stage, could scarcely cease writing altogether and sink into what for
him must have been the living death of a country gentleman pottering
about his estate, unless he were too ill to think and too weak to write.

That he was ill at the beginning of 1616 is suggested by the fact
that on March 25th he signed, apparently in haste, the rough and
much corrected draft of his will instead of a fair copy, while there is
evidence of failing powers in the tremors of the signatures. It is just
possible that as early as May 1612, when he made his deposition in the
Mountjoy suit, his memory was failing. And in the Stratford records
there are fewer references than we should expect to one of the leading
and wealthiest citizens, an energetic and capable man of affairs.

His death appears to have passed unnoticed; the eulogies begin with
the introductory matter of the First Folio, but on the tablet beneath
his effigy in Stratford church was cut:

Ivdicio Pylium, genio Socratem, arte Maronem:
Terra tegit, popvlvs meret, Olympvs habet.

Stay Passenger, why goest thov by so fast?

read if thov canst, whom enviovs Death hath plast,
with in this monvment Shakspeare: with whome,
qvick natvre dide: whose name doth deck ys Tombe,
Far more than cost: sieh all, yt He hath writt,
Leaves living art, bvt page, to serve his witt.

Obiit afio do 1616
Aatis 53 die 23 Apr.

The later history of Shakespeare’s family is again summarised in the
register of Stratford church:
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1616, Nov. 23. C. Shaksper fillius Thomas Quyny gent.
1617, May 8. B. Shakspere fillius Tho. Quyny, gent.
1618, Feb. 9. C. Richard fillius Thomas Quinee.
1618, Nov. 1. B. Micael filius to Jone Harte, widowe.
1620, Jan. 23. C. Thomas filius to Thomas Queeney.
1623, Aug.. 8. B. Mrs Shakspeare.

1626, Apr. 22. M. Mr Thomas Nash to Mrs Elizabeth Hall.
1634, Apr. 13. C. Thomas filius Thomae Hart.

1635, Nov. 26. B. Johannes Hall, medicus peritissimus.
1636, Sept. 18. C. Georgius filius Tho: Hart.

1639, Jan. 28. B. Thomas filius Thomae Quiney.
1639, Feb. 26. B. Richardus filius Tho: Quiney.

1639, Mar. 29. B. Willielmus Hart.

1646, Nov. 4. B. Joan Hart, widow.

1647, Apr. 5. B. Thomas Nash, Gent.

1649, July 16. B. Mrs Sussanna Hall, widow.

1662, Feb. 9. B. Judith, vxor Thomas Quiney Gent.

Shakespeare’s father, John, died in 1601, his mother, Mary Arden,
in 1608, and with the exception of his sister, Joan Hart, Shakespeare
outlived all his brothers and sisters. His two eldest sisters, Joan (the
first) and Margaret, had died in infancy, and Anne aged eight in 1579.
His brothers all died unmarried, Edmund in 1607, Gilbert in 1612,
and Richard in 1613. Apart from the ‘base-borne’ Edward, son of
Edmund, and Joan Hart’s three sons, William, Thomas, and Michael,
and her daughter Mary, all of whom save Thomas died young or
unmarried, Shakespeare had no nephews and nieces.

His wife, Anne Hathaway, died in August 1623 and was buried
beside her husband, but not in the same grave, though it is said that
she expressed a wish to lie there. There is a brass on the stone with the
inscription:

Heere lyeth interred the body of Anne wife
of William Shakespeare who departed this life the
6th day of Avgvst: 1623 being of the Age ot 67 yeares.

From her marriage in 1616 until 1652 his younger daughter
Judith lived at The Cage in Bridge St. Her husband Thomas Quiney
died sometime after 1655, but where we do not know. Judith died
at Stratford in 1662, but the site of her grave is unknown. Their
three sons, Shakespeare, Richard, and Thomas, all born after Shake-
speare’s death, died unmarried.

His elder daughter, Mrs. Susanna Hall, lived at New Place where
her husband, Dr. John Hall, died at the age of sixty in 1635, and where
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in July 1643, during the Civil War, Queen Henrietta Maria stayed
two nights and was visited by Prince Rupert. She died in 1649 aged
sixty-six, and was buried next to her husband in the chancel of Strat-
ford church, with the inscription on her stone:

Witty above her sexe, but that’s not all,

Wise to salvation was good Mistris Hall,
Something of Shakespeare was in that, but this
Wholy of him with whom she’s now in blisse.

Susanna Hall’s only child, Elizabeth, was the last of Shakespeare’s
descendants, for though she married twice she died childless. Her first
husband was Thomas Nash of Stratford, who died at New Place in
1647 and was buried next to Shakespeare. In 1649 she married a
widower, John Bernard of Abington in Northamptonshire, where they
went to live after the Restoration when he was knighted. There she
died in 1670, her husband being buried beside her in 1674.

When Shakespeare’s sister Joan Hart died in 1646, the Henley St.
house, the ‘Birthplace’, in which she had lived, reverted to Susanna
Hall, and on her death in 1649 to Elizabeth, who also inherited New
Place and all the property entailed by her grandfather in his will.
Elizabeth, Lady Bernard, left both Henley St. houses to Thomas and
George Hart, grandsons of Joan, and their descendants lived in the
‘Birthplace’ until 1806, the other half having been converted into an
inn, The Maidenhead. After Sir John Bernard’s death the remainder
of Shakespeare’s property was sold to Sir Edward Walker for £1,060,
New Place reverting to the Clopton family, who had built it, through
the marriage of his daughter to Sir Hugh Clopton, who rebuilt it.
After his death it was bought by the Rev. Francis Gastrell, who ‘to
vex his neighbours’ pulled it down in 1759, and with ‘Gothic bar-
barity’ cut down the mulberry tree said to have been planted by
Shakespeare.



CHAPTER 11

PLAYWRIGHTS AND PLAYERS

HE first real English comedy was written about 1550, the first

real tragedy about 1560; Shakespeare was born in 1564, and

by 1601 he had written Much Ado About Nothing and Twelfth
Night, Henry 1V and Hamlet. These dates indicate the speed with
which the English drama developed in the course of the second half
of the sixteenth century from adolescence to full maturity. But as it is
impossible fully to understand Shakespeare’s plays in isolation, without,
that is, relating them to the environment which was after all partly
responsible for them, so it is, if not impossible, at least difficult to
understand Elizabethan drama as a whole without some knowledge of
the source from which it so suddenly sprang.

The degenerate descendant of the Athenian drama, the Roman
mime, disappeared in the seventh century, killed by the barbarian
invasions, and though it is possible that the jongleurs and minstrels of
the Dark and Middle Ages inherited some of its traditions, modern
European drama had its origins in the Catholic Church, uninfluenced
by classical models. The first appearance of dramatic dialogue in the
liturgy was in the ninth century at the celebration of Mass on Easter
Day: two priests dressed in white robes as angels faced two other
priests whose robes signified that they were women, and they chanted
alternately:

Quem gueeritis in sepulchro, Christicole?
lesum Nazaremum crucifixum, o caelicole.
Non est hic: surrexit sicut preedixerat;
Ite, muntiate quia surrexit de sepulchro.

Whom do you seek in the sepulchre, O Christian women?
Jesus of Nazareth, the crucified, O heavenly ones.

He is not here; he is risen as he foretold;

Go, announce that he is risen from the grave.

It was not long before elementary action was added to the dialogue,
and by the end of the tenth century at the festivals of Easter and
Christmas miniature religious dramas were enacted in the church by
priests who chanted in Latin. The inevitable elaboration of the plays
and the extension of their subject-matter made them too complex for
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performance inside the church, so they were moved first into the
churchyard and thence into the market-place. When this happened
the citizens, helped by the wandering jongleurs, took over the per-
formance of the plays from the clergy and substituted their native
dialect for the clerical Latin. After 1311, therefore, when the cele-
bration of the Feast of Corpus Christi, instituted in 1264, was en-
joined by the Pope, the trade-gilds made the day, the Thursday after
Trinity Sunday, their chief festival, and on it enacted their cycles of
Mystery Plays.

Mystery Plays' were dramatised versions of stories from the Old
and New Testaments, and were arranged in ‘cycles’ covering the
whole of the Bible story. Thus the first play in the York Cycle of
1415 was the Creation performed by the Tanners, the last—and
forty-eighth—the Crucifixion, performed by the Mercers. Generally
there was some attempt to suit the craft to the subject: for example,
the Shipwrights performed the episode of ‘God warning Noah to make
an Ark of floatable wood’, and the Vintners that of the miracle of
turning water into wine. These plays are written in verse, crude, yet
occasionally transfigured by flashes of real pathos and poetry, and
sometimes relieved by comic scenes, such as the famous sheep-stealing
incident in The Second Shepherd’s Play of the Towneley Cycle.

They were acted either on scaffolds erected in the street, or on a
movable stage called a pageant, which was wheeled from station to
station so that as many people as possible could see the sequence.
There were three stories, from the top one of which angels could
descend to the middle or main stage, below which was a curtained
dressing-room which also served as Hell; but the actors might over-
flow into the street as when ‘Herod rages in the pageant and in the
street also’. Judging by the accounts kept by the gilds it seems certain
that within their limits the plays were elaborately produced: for in-
stance, 2s. 14. was paid for “T'wo and a half yards of buckram for the
Holy Ghost’s coat’, and among the properties at one performance was
‘half a yard of Red Sea’; and gilds were liable to a fine if their per-
formance was unsatisfactory.

The fifteenth century with its love of allegory tended to make of
the biblical characters personified abstractions such as Studious Desire,
Sensual Appetite, Fellowship, and Good Deeds, and so the Morality
Play, more moral than religious, developed out of the Mystery Play.
The most famous of these Moralities is the late fifteenth-century play
Everyman, deservedly so, for apart from its literary merit as a whole it

! Miracle Plays, based on the lives of the Saints, were common in France, but never very
common in England. The term Miracle Play is often used to signify either of these two kinds
of Medieval drama.
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contains the first really great moment in English' drama when Beauty
looks into Everyman’s grave and refuses to accompany him:

Egeryman. For into this cave must I crepe,
And torne to the erthe, and there slepe.
Beaute. What in to this grave, alas!
Everyman. Ye, there shall we consume, more and lesse!
Beaute. And what, sholde I smoder here?
Everyman. Ye, by my fayth, and never more appere!
In this-worlde lyve no more we shall,
But in heven before the hyest lord of all.
Beaute. 1 crosse out all this! adewe by saynt Johan!
I take my cappe in my lappe, and am gone.
Everyman. What, Beaute, whyder wyll ye?
Beaute. Peas! I am defe, I loke not behynde me,
Nat and thou woldest gyve me all the golde in thy chest.
Egeryman. Alas! wherto may I truste?
Beaute gothe fast awaye fro me.
She promysed with me to lyve and dye.

At the beginning of the sixteenth century came the Interlude,
originally a comic episode played between two serious scenes, but the
name was soon applied indiscriminately to Moralities as well and to
any short dramatic performance. Its origins are uncertain, but it must
have owed something to the traditional folk-plays like that of Saint
George, and to the popular comic elements in the Mystery Plays; at
the same time it is a development of the Morality, didactic rather than
moral, and more important, written to be acted in the halls of large
houses, often during a feast, by boys or by professional players. With
The Four P’s, written about 1545, by John Heywood, we have
reached the divide where religious and ethical drama is quite clearly
passing over into secular comedy. The story is of how a Palmer, a
Pardoner, a Pothecary, and a Pedlar compete as to who shall tell the
biggest lie, and of how the prize is won by the Palmer, who maintains
that he has never seen a woman out of temper. Itis all rather childish,
but it is important because it sets out to amuse rather than to instruct,
and because the biblical characters of the Mysteries, allegorised in the
Moralities, have re-emerged at the other end once again as individuals,
but secularised. Although Mystery plays were performed until the
end of Elizabeth’s reign, by 1550 English drama was ready to burst
from its medieval bondage and to flower in the fierce light of the
Renaissance. But as yet it was unaffected by classical models.

It was mainly, as was only to be expected, through the schools and

1 Everyman is really a translation from the Dutch Elkerlijk.
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universities that the classical influence came to modify the native
drama. There the New Learning had led to the study of Neo-
Classical and Classical plays, particularly of the comedies of Plautus
and Terence, and of the tragedies of Seneca. The boys of St. Paul’s
school had acted plays by Plautus and Terence as early as 1527, and
the performance of these Latin plays became part of the regular
curriculum at Eton, Westminster, and other schools. The importance
that was attached to acting may be gauged from the fact that in 1546
students of Queen’s College, Cambridge, who failed to take part in a
play or to attend a performance once a year were liable to be sent
down.

By the middle of the sixteenth century, then, the position was this:
the medieval Mysteries and Moralities were still popularly performed,
but in addition there were the Interludes, crude secular farces with
little or no plot and construction, performed by boys and by pro-
fessional players in great men’s houses; half-way between were
chronicle history plays like Bale’s King Fohn (1547), an odd mixture
of historical and abstract figures; and finally there were plays in Latin
performed by schoolboys and by students at the university. It could
not be long before the two were brought together: the vigorous but
shapeless native interlude and the carefully constructed classical play.

These native and classical elements were united about 1550, when
Nicholas Udall, the headmaster of Eton, wrote Ralph Roister Doister,
a comedy for performance perhaps by school-boys. Although Udall
called it an interlude it is really the first modern English play, for it
has a fully developed plot adapted from the Miles Gloriosus of Plautus,
and is constructed on the classical model with acts and scenes. Itisa
medley, it is true, for though the minor characters are drawn from
contemporary life, Mathew Merygreeke is really the Vice of the
Moralities, and Roister Doister is the Pyrgopolinices of Plautus.
Again, it is classical in its observance of the unities, medieval in its
morality. Nevertheless, ‘in Roister Doister we emerge from medieval
grotesquery and allegory into the clear light of actual life, into an
agreeable atmosphere of urbanity and natural delineation.’

In 1562 Thomas Sackville and Thomas Norton did for tragedy
what Nicholas Udall had done for comedy some ten years earlier, for
in that year they produced their play Gorboduc, a native theme in the
classical manner. This play, the first real tragedy in English, contains
all, or almost all, the elements of a Senecan tragedy: chorus, messengers
instead of action, interminable declamations, stichomythia or line by
line dialogue, and division into acts and scenes. Each act, however, is
preceded by the non-classical device of a dumb-show, the allegorical
character of which is accentuated by the music of appropriate instru-
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ments; nor do the authors observe the unities of time and place, for
their neglect of which they were reproached by Sir Philip Sidney:
‘Gorboduc, which notwithstanding, as it is full of stately speeches and
well sounding phrases, climbing to the height of Seneca his style, and
as full of notable morality, which it doth most delightfully teach, and
so obtain the very end of Poesy; yet in truth it is very defectious in the
circumstances: which grieveth me, because it might not remain as an
exact model of all Tragedies. Fot it is faulty both in Place and Time,
the two necessary companies of all corporal actions.” “The style of
this old play’, writes Lamb, ‘is stiff and cumbersome, like the dresses
of its times. There may be flesh and blood underneath, but we cannot
get at it.” Fortunately this static and didactic form of drama was not
to ‘remain as an exact model of all Tragedies’, any more than Plautus
and Terence were to become the models of English comedy. The
importance of these classical models was that they showed English
dramatists how to construct a play, but the creative spirit of the
Elizabethans was too powerful to be fettered by pedantry, and when
classical construction conflicted with Elizabethan exuberance their
imperative expression overwhelmed all restraints and their poetry
swamped the conventions. Gorboduc is of the greatest importance for
another reason: it is the first English play to be written in blank verse,
the vehicle that was to be used with such miraculous effect a few years
later. ' T
Tt may then be said that Shakespeare and the modern English
drama were born almost at the same time, though the next important
development had to wait until he had come of age and left Stratford
for London. The years of Shakespeare’s nonage coincided with the
attempt to harness English drama to that of Rome, and English
Senecan plays such as Focasta and The Misfortunes of Arthur were
acted at Court and at the universities; but by the middle of the eighties,
when Shakespeare attained his majority, the native genius had asserted
itself and Seneca and the Romans were servants, not masters.
~About the middle of the sixteenth century, players, some of whom
had been retained by the nobility in their houses, began to travel in
companies, and, though they did not neglect the provinces, they were
naturally attracted to London, which under the Tudors was rapidly
gaining in importance. There they would lodge at an inn, hire the
inn-yard, which like Chaucer’s Tabard was surrounded by a gallery,
and in the afternoons perform their plays on a stage erected for the
occasion. Sometimes they would buy an inn outright and convert it
into a permanent theatre; but the first London theatre to be built was
The Theatre in 1576. Owing to the opposition of the City authorities,
with their puritanical horror of the stage and more rational fear of the
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Plague, all the early public theatres were built outside the City walls.
Thus The Theatre and The Curtain were in Moorfields; The Rose,
The Swan, The Globe and The Hope in Southwark; The Fortune
just north of Cripplegate, and The Red Bull in St. John’s St.,
Clerkenwell.

In 1632 Edmund Howes, in his continuation of Stow’s Survey of
.Lonéon (1598), wrote of the building of the Salisbury Court theatre
in 1629:

This is the 17th stage or common playhouse which hath been new made
within the space of three score years within London and the suburbs;
viz., § inns or common hostelries turned to playhouses, one cockpit,
St. Pauls singing school, one in the Blackfriars, and one in the White-
friars, which was built last of all in the year 1629. All the rest not named
were erected only for common playhouses, besides the new-built bear
garden [the Hope], which was built as well for plays and fencers’ prizes
as bull baiting; besides one in former times in Newington Butts.

The inn yards used as playhouses seem generally to have been
within the City, and the following are known to have been so used:

The Cross Keys, and The Bell in Gracechurch Street.
The Bell Savage on Ludgate Hill.

The Bull in Bishopsgate Street within the walls.

The Boar’s Head in Eastcheap (?).

The eight ‘public’ or ‘open’ theatres, built on the model of an inn
yard, were all outside the jurisdiction of the City:

The Theatre. 1576. Moorfields. Built by James Burbage and John
Brayne and used for other activities as well as plays. It
was pulled down in 1598-9 and its timbers used for
The Globe.

The Curtain. 1576. Moorfields. Used by various companies before
1603 when it became the home of Queen Anne’s
Servants.

The Rose.  c. 1587. Bankside. Built by Philip Henslowe. In Feb.
1592 Lord Strange’s Men were acting there. The home
of the Admiral’s Men.

The Swan.  c. 1594. Bankside. Built by Francis Langley. It was
used for other activities than plays, but by Pembroke’s
Men in 1597-8, perhaps by the Chamberlain’s in 1596.
It was drawn and described in the commonplace book of
Arend van Buchell from a description of John de Witt
who was in London about 1596:
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There are in London four theatres of noteworthy beauty, which bear
diverse names according to their diverse signs. In them a different
action is daily presented to the people. The two finest of these are situ-
ated to the southward beyond the ‘Thames, named, from the signs they
display, the Rose and the Swan. T'wo others are outside the city towards
the north, and are approached ‘per Episcopalem portem’; in the
vernacular, ‘Bishopsgate’. There is also a fifth, of dissimilar structure,
devoted to beast-baiting, wherein many bears, bulls, and dogs of stupen-
dous size are kept in separate dens and cages, which, being pitted against
each other, afford men a most delightful spectacle. Of all the theatres,
however, the largest and most distinguished is that whereof the sign is a
swan (commonly called the Swan theatre), since it contains three
thousand persons, and is built of a concrete of flintstones (which greatly
abound in Britain) and supported by wooden columns, painted in such
excellent imitation of marble that it might deceive even the most cun-
ning. Since its form seems to approach that of a Roman structure, I have
depicted it above. (Trans. from Latin by William Archer.)

It seems unlikely, however, that The Swan was really made of flint-
stone as all other theatres appear to have been made of wood, and an
audience of three thousand must be a gross exaggeration. The drawing
too is open to suspicion, as it shows a movable stage supporting the
permanent superstructure.

\v4

The Globe.  1599. Bankside. Built by the Burbages, partly from the
timbers of The Theatre. The headquarters of Shake-
speare’s company, the Chamberlain’s and King’s Men.
Burned down in 1613 but rebuilt in 1614 and pulled
down in 1644. The finest of the public theatres.

The Fortune. 1600. North of Cripplegate. Built by Henslowe and
Edward Alleyn. The contract for this building is pre-
served in Henslowe’s papers and shows that it was built
of wood on a brick foundation, that it was square,
80 feet outside and 5§ feet inside, and that the stage was
43 feet wide and projected half way (274 feet) into
the yard. The total cost was [1320. It became the
home of The Lord Admiral’s Men. In 1621 it was
burned and rebuilt in brick in 1623.

The Red Bull. 1604. Clerkenwell. Built by Aaron Holland. In 1609
the Queen’s Men were authorised to act ‘at their usual
houses of the Curtain and the Red Bull’. Its appeal was
sensational.

The Hope. 1614. Bankside. Built by Henslowe. Ithad a movable
stage, and after 1616 was used for bull- and bear-
baiting and prize fights.
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The other playhouses mentioned by Howes, The Cockpit, ‘St.
Paul’s singing school’, The Blackfriars, and the Whitefriars (rebuilt
nearby as Salisbury Court in 1629), were all ‘private’ or ‘closed’
theatres.

The chief characteristics of the Elizabethan ‘public’ theatre are
well known. It was essentially a circular or rectangular building of
wood with roofed galleries overlooking the open court which it en-
closed. There were really three stages: the main or apron stage, with
trap-doors, some five feet high and projecting into the court; at the
back of the apron was an inner stage flanked by dressing-rooms, and
above it was the gallery which served as an upper stage. Curtains
could be drawn across the inner stage, and above the upper and over
the apron stage was a canopy to protect the actors from the weather.
Properties were such as could easily be got on and off the apron stage:
tables, chairs, beds, trees, or even a wall; and there was no attempt to
represent a scene by means of painted canvas. The scenery of the
inner stage, which could be changed while the curtains were drawn,
was probably a little more elaborate. Plays were performed by day-
light, in the afternoon, and women’s parts, it must be remembered,
were playcd by boys, for no professional actresses were allowed on the
stage before the Restoration. It is difficult to say how far the Eliza-
bethan theatre modified the Elizabethan drama, or the drama the
theatre, but it is certain that this simple staging was perfectly adapted
to the rapid and fluid production that these violent Romantic plays
demanded.

In addition to these performances in the public theatres there were
the private performances in the halls of the nobility, at the universities
and at the Inns of Court, where the students produced their own plays
but occasionally called in the professional companies, as on the famous
occasion when The Comedy of Errors was acted at Gray’s Inn at
Christmas 15§94.' But above all, there were the productions at the
royal palaces, particularly at Christmas, when the Master of the
Revels summoned the players to entertain Elizabeth or James and
paid them £10 for a performance. ‘This Court patronage was finan-
cially important to the players but even more important to the drama,
for the popular plays broke down the pedantic Senecan tradition, and
the Elizabethan drama became the expression of the nation as a whole,
drawing its inspiration from cultured and vulgar alike.

Besides the ‘public’ theatres there were the so-called ‘private’
theatres, the history of which is bound up with that of the Boys’
Companies. The educational value that was attached to acting in the
sixteenth century has already been indicated, and so we find in Henry

1 See p. 351.
6
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VIID’s reign the Children of the Chapel Royal being trained as actors
as well as singers, while the Boys of St. Paul’s performed at Court the
Interludes of John Heywood who himself produced them. Some of
these boys were later organised into professional companies, and as
they were able to act women’s parts as well as the mixed companies
of men and boys, and could offer more in the way of musical enter-
tainment, they became formidable rivals of the adult players. In 1584
the Boys of St. Paul’s acted Lyly’s plays in the refectory of the dis-
solved monastery at Blackfriars, and again until about 1590 in a
similar hall near St. Paul’s. Later they performed plays written for
them by Chapman, Middleton, and Marston, but their company was
disbanded soon after the accession of James I. The Children of the
Chapel Royal had a longer history. They were performing at the
Blackfriars theatre as early as 1576, then after an interval they acted
plays by Jonson, Chapman and Marston, and it is to these children,
the ‘little eyases’, that Shakespeare refers in Hamlet. In 1609 they
moved to a theatre in Whitefriars and soon the competition of the
Boys’ Companies was at an end, and the King’s Men took possession
of the Blackfriars theatre. (See p. 43.)

‘This theatre had been reconstructed in 1596; in 1608 Shakespeare
and his fellow actors took over the lease, and here they performed their
plays in the winter months when performances in the ‘open’ Globe
must sometinies have been impossible. For the Blackfriars theatre was
roofed in, and this was the essential difference between the ‘public’
and the ‘private’ theatres, which were public in the sense that anybody
who cared to pay the higher price—from sixpence to half a crown, as
against a penny to a shilling in the ‘public’ theatres—could attend.
Orriginally the private theatres were halls like those in private houses,
but then galleries were added and seats provided both in them and in
the ‘pit’, the apron stage of the public theatre being preserved. At the
same time the more select audiences, and the similarity of these private
theatres to the halls of the royal palaces, great houses, and the Inns of
Court, must have modified the method of production. For instance,
the greater intimacy of a roofed-in theatre must have led to a quieter
style of acting, the music given by the boys between the acts in their
private theatre became a customary part of the performance, and it
was inevitable that experiments should be made with the more
elaborate staging employed at Court performances. But Elizabethan
drama was too various, elusive, and vital to be shackled by the painted
scenery of the Italian theatre, and plays continued to be staged in both
types of theatre with the aid of little more than simple movable
properties, expensive though not historical costume, and dialogue that
indicated, or poetry that suggested, the scene.
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With the accession of James I, however, and the vogue of the
masque as a form of entertainment at Court, the private theatres such
as The Blackfriars, The Cockpit built in 1616 in Drury Lane, and
Salisbury Court, which were better suited for expensive productions in
the manner of Inigo Jones, adopted some of the devices of the Court
stage, and Shakespeare’s later plays, The Tempest in particular, show
clearly the influence of the masque. But it was not until the time of
Charles I and D’Avenant that spectacle began seriously to compete
with the play in the public theatres, and it was not until 1661 that
Pepys wrote in his Diary as something worthy of remark that he had
been to see a performance of Hamlet, ‘done with scenes’.

The professional actors were organised in companies under the
protection of the nobility. This patronage had become essential after
the Act of 1572, which was really a part of the Tudor Poor Law, and
an attempt to deal with the new problem of unemployment occasioned
by the breakdown of the ordered life of the Middle Ages. According
to the Act, therefore, all players who were not in the service of some
noble were classed as rogues and vagabonds and liable to severe
penalties,

All ydle persones goinge about in any Countrey of the said Realme,
having not Lord or Maister . . and all Fencers Bearewardes Comon
Players in Enterludes and Minstrels, not belonging to any Baron of this
Realme or towardes any other honorable Personage of greater Degree

. which .. shall wander abroade and have not Lycense of two
Justices of the Peace at the leaste . . wher and in what Shier they shall
happen to wander . . shalbee taken adjudged and deemed Roges
Vacabondes and Sturdy Beggers.

On her accession Elizabeth retained four interlude players, later
increased to eight, as members of the royal household. Other pro-
fessional companies, however, acted at Court, and there are records of
performances by the servants of Lord Clinton, Lord Derby, Lord
Charles Howard, the Earl of Warwick, and the Earl of Leicester.

Leicester’s Company was the most important of these, and from
1572 to 1583 performed regularly at Court. James Burbage was a
member, and when he built The Theatre in 1576 the company
probably acted there until its reorganisation in 1583. In 1586-7 they
were at Stratford, where it is just possible, though improbable, that
Shakespeare joined them, but after Leicester’s death in 1588 they
probably combined with Lord Strange’s Men.

In 1583 the Queen’s Company was formed under the patronage
of Elizabeth, who ordered the Master of the Revels, Edmund Tilney,
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to select a number of players from other companies. According to
Stow

There were twelve of the best chosen, and at the request of Sir Francis
Walsingham, they were sworn the queenes servants and were allowed
wages and liveries as groomes of the chamber . .. Among these twelve
players were two rare men, viz., Robert Wilson, for a quicke, delicate,
refined extemporall witt, and Richard Tarleton, for a wondrous plenti-
full pleasant extemporall wit, he was the wonder of his tyme.

Robert Wilson was one of Leicester’s Men, and two other players of
his company, John Laneham and William Johnson, were taken for
the Queen’s. When it is remembered that twelve actors was a large
number for a company, the reason for the reorganisation of Leicester’s
Men in 1583 becomes apparent.

The formation of the Queen’s Company was only one symptom of
the struggle between the Court and the puritanical City authorities,
who were jealous for their ancient right of controlling public amuse-
ments within their walls, and no doubt angry at the establishment of
The Theatre and The Curtain just outside their jurisdiction. The
antagonism of the Puritans can be judged from Histrio- Mastix, The
Players Scourge, 1633, in which Prynne protests

that popular Stage-playes (the very Pompes of the Divell which we
renounce in Baptisme, if we beleeve the Fathers) are sinfull, heathenish,
lewde, ungodly Spectacles, and most pernicious Corruptions; con-
demned in all ages, as intolerable Mischiefes to Churches, to Repub-
lickes, to the manners, mindes, and soules of men. And that the Pro-
fession of Play-poets, of Stage-players; together with the penning,
acting, and frequenting of Stage-playes, are unlawfull, infamous and
misbeseeming Christians.

From 1583-91 the Queen’s Men performed regularly at Court, but
in 1592 their place was taken by Strange’s Company to whom, among
others, they sold plays in 1593, which suggests that they were in
difficulties: The Taming of a Shrew, Titus Andronicus, The True
Tragedy of Richard Duke of York, and perhaps the old Hamlet. In
1594 they were with Sussex’s Men at the Rose, but after that there is
no record of them in London. No doubt the plague of 1593-4 and
the greater attractions of the Admiral’s and the Chamberlain’s Men
account for their disappearance.

Philip Henslowe, the builder of the Rose, the Fortune, and the
Hope, had an interest in the affairs of a number of companies, the

1 Survey.
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most important of which was the Admiral’s. This company, under
the patronage of Lord Howard, in 1585 created Lord High Admiral,
acted at Court in 1574 and again in 1585, at about which time
Edward Alleyn and his brother John left Worcester’s Men to join
them. At Christmas 1588-9 they were at Court and were paid ‘for
twoe Enterludes or playes, and for showing other feates of activity
and tumblinge’. Later in the year they were at Cambridge, in
November ‘very dutifullie obeyed’ an order of the Lord Mayor of
London ‘in her Maiesties name to forbeare playinge’, and at Christmas
were again at Court, where they showed ‘certen feates of activitie’.
In 1589-90 they can be traced at Ipswich, Maidstone, Winchester,
Marlborough, Gloucester, Coventry and Oxford.

Until 1592 there is nothing to suggest that Henslowe was con-
nected with the Admiral’s Men, but in October of that year Edward
Alleyn married his stepdaughter. Then followed two years of plague,
of dissolution and reorganisation of companies, and of confusion and
obscurity. In May 1593, for instance, Alleyn, although described as
a ‘Servant to the Right Honourable Lord High Admiral’, was
authorised to travel with Lord Strange’s Men, five of whom were
named: William Kempe, Thomas Pope, John Hemminge, Augustine
Phillips, and George Bryan. And for 1594 Henslowe recorded in
his Diary:

In the name of god Amen begininge at Newington my Lord Ad-
meralle men & my Lorde Chamberlen men As ffolowethe 1594.

June 3. Heaster & Asheweros viij®.
4 the Jewe of Malta x*.
5. Andronicous xij®.
6. Cutlacke xjs.
8. ne Bellendon xvij®.
9. Hamlet viij®,
10. Heaster Ve,
II. the Tamynge of A Shrowe ix®.
12. Andronicous vijt.
13. the Jewe iiijs.

On June 15th, however, the Admiral’s Men were settled at Hens-
lowe’s Rose, where the great Alleyn-Henslowe partnership was
firmly established, Alleyn, the greatest actor of his time, playing the
lead in Marlowe’s plays. In their first full season at the Rose, from
June 1594 to June 1595, they played The Few of Malta, The
Massacre of Paris, Tamburlaine, Parts 1 and 2, and Dr. Faustus
fifty-one times altogether. In November 1600 they moved to the
Fortune, and Henslowe employed other playwrights; between 1598
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and 1603 Chettle and his collaborators were responsible for 52 plays,
and Dekker for 45. After 1603 the Admiral’s Men became succes-
sively Prince Henry’s Servants, the Servants of the Palsgrave, and the
Prince’s Men, and continued to occupy the rebuilt Fortune until the
closing of the theatres.

The main rivals of the Admiral’s were Lord Strange’s Men, a
company acting in the provinces from 1576 under the patronage of
Ferdinando Stanley, Lord Strange. Their early history is obscure, but
it seems probable that about 1590 James Burbage organised a com-
bination of the rump of Leicester’s Men playing at his Theatre and
for whom he had secured the patronage of Lord Hunsdon, with Lord
Strange’s, for in 1593 Kempe, Bryan, and Pope, former members of
Leicester’s Company, were with them. This new Strange’s Company
acted six plays at Court in the winter of 1591-2, and until 1594 had
some sort of connection with Henslowe and Alleyn, for from February
to June 1592 they played for Henslowe at the Rose, on March 25th
performing Henry V1, Part 1; then, when the theatres were closed in
the summer on account of the plague and they toured the provinces,
Alleyn was with them, at any rate in May 1593, when, although
described as a Servant of the Admiral, he headed the list of Strange’s
Men.

It was while they were on tour, in September 1593, that Lord
Strange succeeded to the title of Lord Derby, by which name the
company was called until his death in April 1594. In June they
secured the patronage of the Lord Chamberlain, Henry Carey, Lord
Hunsdon, and when he died in July 1596, of his son George Carey,
who became Lord Chamberlain in March 1597, when they resumed
the title of the Chamberlain’s Men which they had adopted in June
1594. The powerful patronage of the Lord Chamberlain seems to
have established their prosperity, for from 1594 to the end of the
reign they played regularly at Court and became independent of
Henslowe and Alleyn. The first reference to Shakespeare as a

member of the company occurs in the record of the Court perform-
ance at Greenwich in 1594:

Dec. 26, 27. William Kempe William Shakespeare & Richard Burbage
seruantes to the Lord Chamberleyne.

Marlowe was dead, and there was no immediate rival to the rising
star of Shakespeare, whose free combination with Burbage and his
fellows under the patronage of the Lord Chamberlain proved even

! The Licence for the King's Men of 19 May 1603 mentioned ‘Lawrence Fletcher, William

Shakespeare, Richard Burbage, Augustyne Phillippes, Iohn Heninges, Henric Condell,
William Sly, Robert Armyn, Richard Cowly’.
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stronger than that of Henslowe-Alleyn and their mercenaries, and the
rest of their history is one of almost uninterrupted prosperity. Their
home was at James Burbage’s Theatre, though there was a connection
with the Cross Keys Inn dating at least from 1589, when Lord
Strange’s Men disobeyed the Lord Mayor’s order to forbear playing
and ‘in very Contemptuous manner went to the Crosse keys and
played that afternoon’. In 1599 they built their new theatre, The
Globe, out of the timbers of the old; in 1603 they became the King’s
Servants and Grooms of the Chamber, and in 1608 they secured a
private theatre, the Blackfriars, for their winter quarters.

In the history of the Companies the most important are, to begin
with, Leicester’s and the Queen’s, but after 1590 the Admiral’s and
the Strange-Chamberlain Company. There were many others, in
many of which Henslowe had an interest: Sussex’s and Pembroke’s,
for instance, and Worcester’s, which in 1603 became Queen Anne’s
Servants, and in 1611 The Lady Elizabeth’s Men signed a bond to
Henslowe. Henslowe died in 1616, and Alleyn, who no longer took
an active interest in affairs, in 1626.

Most of the theatres were built as speculations by business men;
thus James Burbage was financed by John Brayne; Francis Langley,
who built The Swan, had no connection with acting; and Henslowe,
an enterprising pawnbroker and dealer in slum property, owned The
Rose, The Fortune, and The Hope. On the other hand, Richard and
Cuthbert Burbage built The Globe and distributed half the shares
among other members of the Company. The owners were called
housekeepers, and generally received all or part of the money paid for
admission to the galleries; Henslowe, for instance, never received less
than half the galleries for his rent of The Rose.

The actors were divided into sharers, who received ‘the profhit
arising from the dores’ or the general charge for admission, and hired
actors, musicians, and stage attendants, whom they paid. There was
also the book-keeper or prompter, and the boys who appear to have
been bound to sharers in return for training. Many of the Chamber-
lain’s Men, including Shakespeare, were both actor-sharers and house-
keepers, but the actors of Henslowe’s companies do not seem to have
had any stake in the theatres.

Henslowe acted as banker and manager of his companies and kept
a hold on them and on the writers who supplied them with plays by
his advances of money; for instance, ‘Lent unto mr dickers and mr
chettell the 26 of maye 1599 in est of a Boocke called the tragede of
Agamemnon the some of xxx*. In his own words, ‘Should these
fellowes Come out of my debt I should have noe rule with them’.
Small wonder that in 1615 his company drew up a list of ‘Articles of
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oppression against Mr Hinchlowe’. Although Henslowe prospered
and his son-in-law Alleyn retired as Lord of the Manor of Dulwich,
there is no indication that the members of their companies were as
prosperous as the Chamberlain’s Men, who managed their own affairs
so well that they kept their organisation intact from 1594 to the
closing of the theatres in 1642.

Playwrights were sometimes attached permanently to a company,
as were Shakespeare, Fletcher, and Thomas Heywood; sometimes,
like Dekker and Chettle, they were engaged under contract for a
period; others like Jonson preferred to remain independent. When a
company bought a play it became their property and a valuable and
jealously guarded part of the joint capital of the sharers. Robert
Greene was accused of selling the same play to different companies,
and no doubt it was not an uncommon practice.

The history of the drama in the twenty years that succeeded the
publication of Gorboduc in 1565 is obscure. That there was a great
increase in the demand for dramatic entertainment is certain, and no
doubt there was a corresponding increase in the supply, but the plays
were ephemeral affairs, at best patched up and rewritten but rarely
published, for it paid the actors to keep them to themselves, and few
publishers would think of them as literature worth preserving. The
few plays that we possess are mostly either Senecan imitations, like
Gascoigne’s Focasta or Wilmot’s Tancred and Gismund, or, like
Thomas Preston’s Cambyses, a compromise between an interlude and
a classical play. Progress was disappointing, partly because dramatists
were toying with the Senecan manner which was at odds with the
swelling Elizabethan spirit, partly because a satisfactory medium had
not yet been discovered. But suddenly, beginning in 1584, came a

ecade of startling advance, when Senecan rules were light-heartedly
abandoned, and prose and blank verse were rapidly developed as
dramatic mediums.

The new impetus came from the Universities, and the group of
dramatists who may be said fairly to have launched the Elizabethan
drama were known as the University Wits, the most important
members being Lyly, Peele, Greene, Kyd, and Marlowe. Of these
the last three were dead by 1594, Peele died in 1596;and Lyly wrote
nothing for the theatre after 1590, so that after preparing the way for
Shakespeare they left it clear and without an immediate rival to their
great successor. ’

John Lyly wrote his plays for the Children of the Chapel Royal
and for the Children of St. Paul’s; they are courtly and artificial
comedies, written largely in the euphuistic language of which he was
the creator, and though he had no great influence on the later drama,
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he rescued comedy from mere buffoonery, emphasised the importance
of language rather than action, wrote some exquisite lyrics, and above
all established prose as a possible vehicle for comedy. Endymion, ‘a
piece of theatrical confectionery suited to the precocious children’, is
his best play and one to which 4 Midsummer Night’s Dream owes
something.

George Peele’s greatest contribution to the drama was the develop-
ment of blank verse, which by his lightness of touch and strain of real
poetry he helped to free from the iambic rigidity of Gorboduc. His
David and Bethsabe contains the well-known passage beginning:

Now comes my lover tripping like the roe,
And brings my longings tangled in her hair.

Robert Greene is perhaps most famous—or notorious—for his
attack on Shakespeare, ‘the upstart crow’, in his Groatsworth of Wit,
written on his deathbed in 1592. He too was a poet, though inferior
to Marlowe whom he emulated, but he possessed a gift in which
Marlowe was singularly lacking, a sense of humour. His romantic
history of Fames IV has comic scenes as well as fairies, and his Friar
Bacon and Friar Bungay, though nominally set in the thirteenth
century, contains lively pictures of Elizabethan England, as does also
the remarkable dramatic fable written in conjunction with Thomas
Lodge, A Looking Glass for London and England, where the scene is
meant to be Nineveh in the time of Jonah. The mixture of comedy,
romance, and tragedy, of the contemporary with the historic, is
typical of much Elizabethan drama, and gives it a breadth and fresh-
ness that preserves it from the perils of pedantry.

Thomas Kyd in his Spanish Tragedy (1588-9) showed what could
be done with a contemporary theme. It is the archetype of the Eliza-
bethan tragedy of revenge, a violent melodrama exploiting to the full
the emotion of horror, and with much of the more picturesque
paraphernalia of Senecan tragedy, a play that was to influence, among
others, Shakespeare, Tourneur, and Webster. Indeed, in the scenes
of Hieronimo’s madness brought about by grief at the murder of his
son, Lamb suspected the hand of Webster: ‘they are full of that wild
solemn preternatural cast of grief which bewilders us in the Duchess
of MalfP’. Certainly such a passage as this, melodramatic though it is,
is the language of great tragedy:

Let the clouds scowl, make the moon dark, the stars extinct, the
winds blowing, the bells tolling, the owls shrieking, the toads croaking,
the minutes jarring, and the clock striking twelve. And then at last, sir,
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starting, behold a man hanging, and tottering, and tottering, as you
know the wind will wave a man, and I with a trice to cut him down.

And looking upon him by the advantage of my torch, find it to be my
son Horatio.

For fifty years The Spanish Tragedy remained one of the most
popular of plays, but more important than Kyd was the dazzling
genius Christopher Marlowe, born in the same year as Shakespeare
and dying when Shakespeare had scarcely begun to make a name for
himself. Like Shakespeare, Marlowe was a lyric poet turned dramatist,
and though, except in Edward II, he was too impatient to bother
about construction in his chaotic plays, he made blank verse a vehicle
that carried triumphantly the towering passions of his tragic heroes.
This perfection of dramatic poetry within the limits of the end-stopped
line~ ‘Was his greatest contribution to the drama. His characters,
*Tamburlaine, Barabas, Faustus, are terrifying in their confidence.in
the foundations of human greatness and in their blind contempt.for
fortune that is ultimately to overwhelm them. But their passionate
aspiration is static and unrelieved; only in Edward 11 does Marlowe
achieve subtlety and a dramatic development of character.

Such were the predecessors of Shakespeare whose art he inherited
and in the next twenty years carried to such unbelievable heights.
Perhaps no man was ever more fortunate than he in the time of his
birth, for wheén he was thirty his potential rivals were dead or silent,
and their gifts were at his feet. The influence of Lyly with his love
of words is apparent in Love’s Labour’s Lost and Romeo and Fuliet, of
Peele in the graceful verse of The Two Gentlemen of Verona, of
Greene in the humour of his histories, of Kyd in the horrors of Titus
Andronicus and the revenge of Hamlet, of Marlowe in the intellectual
arrogance of Richard 111, in the ‘reluctant pangs of abdicating royalty’
in Richard 11, and in verse such as this:

Let’s whip these stragglers o’er the seas again,

Lash hence these overweening rags of France,

These famished beggars, weary of their lives,

Who, but for dreaming on this fond exploit,

For want of means, poor rats, had hanged themselves:
If we be conquered, let men conquer us,

And not these bastard Bretons, whom our fathers

Have in their own lands beaten, bobbed, and thumped,
And in record left them the heirs of shame.

Perhaps it will be helpful to give a list of Shakespeare’s predecessors,
contemporaries, and successors, with the approximate dates of their
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lives, for many of them are very uncertain, and of the periods of their
greatest productivity:

Lyly 1554-1606 1584-1590
Peele 1557-1596 1588-1593
Greene 1558-1592 1587-1592
Kyd 1558-1594 1588-1594
Marlowe 1564-1593 1587-1593
Shakespeare  1564-1616 1590-1611
Chapman 1559-1634 1596-1613
Middleton  1570-1627 1599-1612
T. Heywood 1570-1641 1600-1638
Jonson 1572-1637 1597-1633
Dekker 1572-1632 1598-1630
Marston 1575-1634 1599-1613
‘Tourneur 1575-1626 1607-1613
Fletcher 1579-1625 1607-1625
Beaumont 1584-1616 1607-1614
Webster 1580-1625 1612-1623
Massinger 1583-1639 1620-1639
Ford 1585-1640 1620-1638
Shirley 1596-1666 1626-1660

Of Shakespeare’s contemporaries Ben Jonson is certainly the best
known, in more senses than one. He afid Shakespeare must have been
on very intimate terms, though there is nothing to suggest that either
had much influence on the other as a dramatist, Shakespeare being
nine years the older man and Jonson too independent to borrow from
another; possibly too, being ‘built far higher in learning’ he had some
contempt for the work of a man who, as he confided to Drummond
of Hawthornden, ‘wanted art’. However, according to Fuller, ‘many
were the wit-combats betwixt him (Shakespeare) and Ben Jonson’,
and Shakespeare acted in the original performances of Jonson’s first
comedy and first tragedy, Every Man in his Humour' (1598), and
Sejanus (1603).

His taste for satire brought him into conflict with his contem-
poraries, for he ridiculed Dekker and Marston in Cynthia’s Revels
(1600) and The Poetaster (1601), both of which plays were acted by
the Children of the Chapel. Dekker replied in his Satire- Mastix,
Marston in W hat You Will, but by 1604 the three men seem to have

1 It has been suggested that the portrait of Shakespeare in the First Folio with Jonson's

verses on the opposite page shows him in the character of Old Knowell in Every Man in bis
Humous.
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been on the best of terms again.! Shakespeare appears to have been
involved in the quarrel, for there is an interesting but obscure reference
to him in the anonymous play, The Return from Parnassus, Part 11,
performed at Cambridge in 1601: Will Kempe, the comic actor of
the Chamberlain’s Men, is supposed to be speaking:

Few of the university men pen plays well, they smell too much of
that writer Ovid, and that writer Metamorphosis, and talk too much of
Proserpina and Jupiter. Why here’s our fellow Shakespeare puts them
all down, ay and Ben Jonson too. O that Ben Jonson is a pestilent
fellow, he brought up Horace giving the poets a pill, but our fellow
Shakespeare hath given him a purge that made him bewray his credit.

In The Poetaster Horace gives Crispinus (Marston) pills that make him
vomit ‘terrible windy words’, but what was the purge that Shakespeare
gave Jonson is not at all clear.

Jonson’s dramatic achievement is threefold: tragedy, comedy,
masque. His two tragedies, Sejanus and Catiline, cannot be said to
want art, but they might be said to want nature. Carefully con-
structed in the classical manner, yet not too strictly so, for as he con-
fesses, they are lacking ‘in the strict law of time, and a proper chorus’,
they are frankly aimed at ‘the reader extraordinary’, and though they
have a monumental nobility they have too a ponderosity, pedantry
almost, that checks our sympathy. They are ‘solid but slow’ and lack
the ‘quickness of wit and invention’ of Shakespeare’s Roman plays.

In his creation of the ‘comedy of humours’ Jonson was a revolu-
tionary. He explains what he means by ‘humour’:

As when some one peculiar quality
Doth so possess a man, that it doth draw
All his affects, his spirits, and his powers,
In their confluctions, all to run one way,
‘This may be truly said to be a humour.

Breaking away from the romantic comedy of Lyly and Shakespeare,
with brutal realism and in ‘language such as men do use’, he depicted

persons, such as comedy would choose,
When she would show an image of the times,
And sport with human follies, not with crimes.

1 In 1604 Marston and Chapman were imprisoned for making uncomplimentary references
to James I's countrymen in their comedy Eastward Ho, and Jonson, who had a hand in the
play, ‘voluntarily imprisoned himself’ with them.
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Jonson’s characters, however, are caricatures, personifications of Evil
rather than evil-doers; he attacks the Vice itself, Marston attacks the
vicious. Volpone, Epicene, and The Alchemist, written at the height of
his powers between 1605 and 1610, are among the great masterpieces
of our literature.

With the accession of James I Jonson turned his attention to the
masque, which in collaboration with Inigo Jones he may be said to
have invented and perfected, his Masque of Queens, according to
Swinburne, being ‘the most splendid of all masques . . . one of the
typically splendid monuments or trophies of English literature’. In
later life he was the acknowledged literary dictator, surrounded by
young writers whom he called his sons, and Poet Laureate in all but
name. It was his ill luck to have been born at a time when he was
overshadowed by a man even greater than he.

George Chapman’s fame, such as it is to-day, is reflected rather than
direct. He is supposed to have been the rival poet of Shakespeare’s
Sonnets, mentioned particularly in Sonnet 86 for ‘the proud full sail
of his great verse’ and for ‘his spirit, by spirits taught to write above a
mortal pitch’. He is even better known as the inspirer of Keats’s
famous sonnet On First Looking Into Chapman’s Homer:

Oft of one wide expanse had I been told
That deep-browed Homer ruled as his demesne;
Yet did I never breathe its pure serene

Till I heard Chapman speak out loud and bold.

Yet, as a poet, Chapman stands in no need of reflected glory: the
thundering fourteeners of his translation of the I/iad still remain the
best rendering of Homer into English verse:

'The host set forth, and poured his steel waves far out of the fleet,
And as from air the frosty north wind blows a cold thick sleet

That dazzles eyes, flakes after flakes incessantly descending;

So thick, helms, curets, ashen darts, and round shields, never ending,
Flowed from the navy’s hollow womb.

As a dramatist, however, Chapman suffers from obscurity and
pedantry; his plots are confused and his characterisation is weak, and
yet ‘of all the English play-writers’, says Lamb, ‘Chapman perhaps
approaches nearest to Shakespeare in the descriptive and didactic, in
passages which are less purely dramatic. Dramatic imitation was not
his talent. He could not go out of himself, as Shakespeare could shift
at pleasure, to inform and animate other existences, but in himself he
had an eye to perceive and a soul to embrace all forms. ... I have
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often thought that the vulgar misconception of Shakspeare, as of a
wild irregular genius “in whom great faults are compensated by great
beauties” would be really true, applied to Chapman.’ His best comedy
is A/l Fools, his most popular tragedy Bussy d’ Ambois, of which, how-
ever, Dryden wrote in a cruel passage:

I have sometimes wondered, in the reading, what has become of those
glaring colours which amazed me in Bussy &’ Ambois upon the theatre;
but when I had taken up what I supposed a fallen star, I found I had
been cozened with a jelly; nothing but a cold, dull mass, which glittered
no longer than it was shooting; a dwarfish thought, dressed up in gigantic
words, repetition in abundance, looseness of expression, and gross hyper-
boles; the sense of one line expanded prodigiously into ten; and to sum
up all, uncorrect English, and a hideous mingle of false poetry and true
nonsense; or, at best, a scantling of wit, which lay gasping for life, and
groaning beneath a heap of rubbish.

That is the classical verdict against the romantic.

Marston and Middleton both worked with Chapman. Marston,
like his own Malcontent, “’gainst his fate repines and quarrels’; he is
a misanthropist attacking the abuses and the people of his time, His
comedy, such as What You Will and The Dutch Courtezan, derives
from Jonson, but his satire is more personal than Jonson’s, and his
plays link the comedy of humours with the Restoration comedy of
Congreve and Wycherley. There is poetry in his tragedies, Antonio
and Mellida and Sophonisba, as well as vituperative rhetoric, but
unlike his comedies they look back rather than forward, back to the
melodrama and horrors of Kyd.

There is something of Marston in Middleton, but Middleton’s
realism and satire go deeper: there is more moral purpose in them, for
there is more humanity, though perhaps less poetry. A Chaste Maid
in Cheapside is a realistic comedy of the seamy side of London life; his
tragedy The Changeling has some of the best things in Elizabethan
drama. The Witch is important for its relation to Macbeth, where the
specches of Hecate are certainly spurious, and almost certainly inter-
polated by Middleton.

On the other hand there is little of Marston in his colleague Dekker,
who ‘had poetry enough for anything’, and a kindliness and charm,
even in his satire, which is a pleasant contrast to the arrogance of
Jonson and the bitterness of Marston. But he was, as Voltaire might
well have said of him with more justice than of Shakespeare, an
irregular genius: his poetry is rarely sustained—he is at his best in a
lyric—and his plots are often muddled. The Shoemaker’s Holiday is
good-humoured realistic comedy, Satiro-Mastix is good-humoured
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satire, and he must have chuckled as he drew Jonson as Horace toiling
ponderously with a trifle:

O me thy priest inspire,

For I to thee and thine immortal name,

In — sacred raptures flowing, flowing — swimming, swimming:
In sacred raptures swimming,

Immortal name, game, dame, tame, lame, lame, lame,

— — hath, — shame, proclaim, oh?

In sacred raptures flowing, will proclaim, not —

O me thy priest inspire!

For I to thee and thine immortal name,

In flowing numbers filled with sprite and flame,

(Good, Good!) In flowing numbers filled with sprite and flame.

The romance of O/d Fortunatus is often pure Marlowe:

Wish but for Beauty, and within thine eyes
Two naked Cupids amorously shall swim,

And on thy cheeks I’ll mix such white and red,
That Jove shall turn away young Ganymede,
And with immortal arms shall circle thee.

But his masterpiece is The Honest Whore, of which Hazlitt wrote in
the enthusiasm of discovery:

Old honest Dekker’s Signior Orlando Friscobaldo I shall never for-
get! I became only of late acquainted with this last-mentioned worthy
character! but the bargain between us is, I trust, for life. . . . Simplicity
and extravagance of style, homeliness and quaintness, tragedy and
comedy, interchangeably set their hands and seals to this admirable
production. We find the simplicity of prose with the graces of poetry.

~ The stalk grows out of the ground; but the flowers spread their flaunting
leaves in the air.

Thomas Heywood is as engaging and loveable as Dekker, and as
industrious as he is modest. His preface to The English Traveller is
worth quoting both for the light that it throws on him and on the
contemporary drama:

This tragi-comedy (being one reserved amongst 220 in which I had
either an entire hand or at the least a main finger) coming accidentally
to the press, and I having intelligence thereof, thought it not fit that it
should pass as fi/ius populi, a bastard without a father to acknowledge it:
true it is that my plays are not exposed to the world in volumes, to bear
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the title of works (as others'): one reason is, that many of them by
shifting and change of companies have been negligently lost. Others
of them are still retained in the hands of some actors, who think it
against their peculiar profit to have them come in print, and a third
that it never was any great ambition in me to be in this kind volu-
minously read. All that I have further to say at this time is only this:
censure I entreat as favourably as it is exposed to thy view freely.
Ever studious of thy pleasure and profit,
TH. Heywoob.

But of these 220 plays only one, 4 Woman Killed With Kindness, ‘the
first bourgeois tragedy of our Elizabethan literature’, is remembered.
It was with reference to this play that Lamb made his famous com-
ment:

Heywood is a sort of prose Shakspeare. His scenes are to the full as
natural and affecting. But we miss the Poet, that which in Shakspeare
always appears out and above the surface of t4e mature. Heywood’s
characters, his country gentlemen, etc. are exactly what we see (but of
the best kind of what we see) in life. Shakspeare makes us believe, while
we are among his lovely creations, that they are nothing but what we
are familiar with, as in dreams new things seem old: but we awake, and
sigh for the difference.

Heywood ‘began writing for the theatre at about the time that
Shakespeare was entering his tragic period; Beaumont, Fletcher, and
Tourneur came into the field when he was emerging from the pity
and terror of Othello, Timon, Lear, and Macbeth, and when James I
had been on the throne for four years. The pleasure-loving Court of
James and Anne of Denmark demanded spectacle and romance; the
former was supplied by the masque—the Queen’s masque at the
Christmas of 1604 cost £3,000 and the costumes were those of
courtezans rather than of Court ladies—and the latter was as liberally
supplied by Beaumont and Fletcher. These two dramatists have an
astonishing facility and inventiveness, and a lyric gift of the highest
order, but they are decadents. There is no tragic conflict in their
tragedies, and their popular tragi-comedies are little more than senti-
ment: they are soft and pretty, fibreless and effeminate when compared
with the sincerity and manliness of their predecessors. They are
adepts at tragedy without distress; like Bottom they have a device to
make all well, they can aggravate their voices so that they can roar us
as gently as any sucking dove, and it is easy to understand the long
popularity of such plays as The Maid’s Tragedy and Philaster, which

1 1.e., Ben Jonson.
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so skilfully deceive us into a belief that our passions are deeply stirred
when they are but pleasantly tickled. In their hands, too, blank verse
degenerates into a sweet surfeit of feminine endings:

let all about me
Tell that I am forsaken, do my face
(If thou hadst ever feeling of a sorrow)
Thus, thus, Antiphila, strive to make me look
Like Sorrow’s monument; and the trees about me,
Let them be dry and leafless; let the rocks
Groan with continual surges, and behind me
Make all a desolation; look, look, wenches,
A miserable life of this poor picture.?
‘After all’, Lamb remarks laconically, ‘Beaumont and Fletcher were
but an inferior sort of Shakespeares and Sidneys.’

Tourneur and Webster, too, may be degenerate, but if so they are
degenerate in another way; if they are morbid they are never sickly;
like Donne they have an excess of the Jacobean preoccupa